
 

 

City of Leawood 
Planning Commission Agenda 

October 22, 2019 
Dinner Session – 5:30 p.m. – No Discussion of Items 

Leawood City Hall – Main Conference Room 
Meeting – 6:00 p.m. 

4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 
913.339.6700 x 160 

 

 
CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL:   
McGurren, Hunter, Belzer, Hoyt, Elkins, Coleman, Block, Stevens, Peterson 
 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA:   
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  
Approval of minutes from the September 24, 2019 Planning Commission meeting. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
CASE 100-19 – PLAZA POINTE – 5 O’CLOCK LIQUOR – Request for approval of a Special Use Permit for Packaged 
Liquor Sales, located south of 135th Street and east of Briar Street.  PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 101-19 – LEAWOOD ELEMENTARY SCHOOL – TEMPORARY MODULAR CLASSROOMS – Request for 
approval of a Special Use Permit for a Temporary Modular Classroom Building, Preliminary Plat, Revised Preliminary 
Plan, Final Plat, and Revised Final Plan, located north of 123rd Street and west of High Drive.  PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 116-19 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – LOT 4-A TOWN CENTER PLAZA THIRD PLAT – Request for approval of a 
Revised Final Plat, located north of 119th Street and east of Nall Avenue. 
 
CASE 39-19 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-2-10.3, MATERIALS AND 
COLORS – Request for approval of an amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to permitted and 
prohibited materials.  PUBLIC HEARING 
 
CASE 115-19 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-4-4, TEMPORARY USES 
STANDARDS – Request for approval of an amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to 
temporary use standards. PUBLIC HEARING 
 
ADJOURN REGULAR MEETING:   
Meetings will end at 9:00 p.m. unless the Commission votes to extend the meeting for a period of thirty (30) minutes.  An 
additional thirty (30) minute extension, for a maximum of two (2) extensions, may be voted by the Commission members. 
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The Leawood Planning Commission is a nine member non-partisan body whose members are appointed by the Mayor and confirmed by the Governing Body.  
  

The Planning Commission prepares the Comprehensive Plan that is used as a general guide for the development of the community.  The Comprehensive Plan is reviewed 
and updated annually as part of the commission's ongoing process of evaluating trends and patterns.  The Commission also reviews all zoning, special use permit, and site 
plan and plat applications prior to making recommendations to the governing body for final action.  
  

The regular scheduled public meetings of the Planning Commission are held at 6:00 PM on the fourth Tuesday of each month in the City Council chambers, 4800 Town 
Center Drive.  The Commission may also conduct a study session followed by a meeting on the second Tuesday of each month.  
  

Anyone wishing to appear on the Planning Commission agenda or study session agenda should contact Planning Services at (913) 339-6700.  
  

REZONING AND SPECIAL USE PERMIT PROCEDURES FOR LEAWOOD, KANSAS  

  

Newspaper publications: The city will be responsible for publishing the notice of public hearing in the official City newspaper not less than 20 days prior to the end of the 
public hearing.  
  

Posting of the sign: Upon submission of the application, the City will supply the applicant with a sign to be posted on the property.  The sign must be posted not less than 20 
days prior to the public hearing.  
  

Letters of notification: The applicant will be responsible for mailing notices by certified mail, return receipt requested, of the proposed zoning change to all land owners located 
within 200 feet of the area proposed to be altered.  These notices must be sent a minimum of 20 days prior to the Planning Commission hearing.  
  

Public hearing: The Planning Commission hears all zoning requests, hearing from the applicant and anyone in the audience wishing to speak for or against the proposal.  The 
Commission will then make a recommendation for approval or denial to the City Council or continue the application to another Planning Commission agenda.  The following is 
an outline of the public hearing process.  
  

1. Staff summarization of comments and recommendations.  

2. Applicant presentation and response to staff comments and recommendations.  

3. Public Hearing  

a. Anyone wishing to speak, either in favor or in opposition has an opportunity to speak.  

b. It is appreciated if the speakers keep repetition to a minimum.  

4. The applicant will have an opportunity to respond to points raised during the hearing.  

5. Planning Commission discussion.  

6. Motion and second by the Planning Commission.  

7. Planning Commission discussion of motion.  

8. Planning Commission vote on the motion.  

  

Protest period: Certain property owners may file a petition protesting the application within 14 days after the close of the Planning Commission public hearing. The petition 
must be signed by the owners of record of 20% or more of any real property proposed to be rezoned, or by the owners of record of 20% or more of the total real property 
within the area required to be notified in Article 16-5-4.1 of the proposed zoning of specific property, excluding streets and public ways and property excluded pursuant to 16-
5-4.3.  
  

City Council Action: After the protest period has concluded, the application will be placed on an agenda for a City Council meeting.  The Council may then take action on the 
proposal.  The Council may approve the Planning Commission’s recommendation, or it may amend and approve or remand the proposal to the Planning Commission for 
further consideration. 
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Doug Stevens 
 

Arthur Peterson 

Liz Hoyt 

 

Steve McGurren 

Mandi Hunter 

 

Stacey Belzer 
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City of Leawood 

Planning Commission Meeting 

September 24, 2019 

Dinner Session – 5:30 p.m. – No Discussion of Items 

Leawood City Hall – Main Conference Room 

Meeting - 6:00 p.m. 

Leawood City Hall Council Chambers 

4800 Town Center Drive 

Leawood, KS 66211 

913.339.6700 x 160 

 

CALL TO ORDER/ROLL CALL: McGurren, Hoyt, Elkins, Coleman, Block, Peterson 

Absent: Hunter, Belzer, Stevens 

 

APPROVAL OF THE AGENDA  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does staff have any revisions or amendments? 

 

Mr. Klein:  No. 

 

A motion to approve the agenda was made by Hoyt; seconded by McGurren. 

Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 5-0. For: McGurren, Hoyt, Coleman, 

Block, and Peterson.  

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: Approval of the minutes from the August 27, 2019 

Planning Commission meeting. 

 

Mr. Coleman:  There are also minutes for the work session from August 13th. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Let’s take the minutes from the August 27th meeting. Any revisions or 

amendments? 

 

Comm. Hoyt:  I don’t think anyone will find any confusion, but on Page 11, it says Holt 

instead of Hoyt. 

 

A motion to approve the minutes as amended from the August 27, 2019 Planning 

Commission meeting was made by Coleman; seconded by Hoyt. Motion carried with 

a unanimous vote of 5-0. For: McGurren, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, and Peterson. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That takes us to the minutes from the work session from August 13th. 

Are there revisions or corrections? 

 

Comm. Block:  I’m not positive, but I think on Page 4, the two references to 

Commissioner Coleman should be for me instead. 
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Chairman Elkins:  Those at the bottom of the page? 

 

Comm. Block:  Yes. 

 

A motion to approve the amended minutes from the August 13, 2019 Planning 

Commission work session was made by Coleman; seconded by Hoyt. Motion carried 

with a unanimous vote of 5-0. For: McGurren, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, and Peterson. 

 

CONSENT AGENDA:  

CASE 79-19 – CARRIAGE CROSSING – REPLAT OF TRACT C AND LOT 2 – 

Request for approval of a Revised Final Plat, located south of 130th Terrace and west of 

Roe Avenue. 

 

CASE 94-19 – ENCLAVE AT HIGHLAND VILLAS, SIXTH PLAT – Request for 

approval of a Revised Final Plat, located south of 143rd Street and east of Nall Avenue. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Do any commissioners wish to discuss either of the cases on the 

Consent Agenda? 

 

Comm. Peterson:  On Page 1 in our packet, under Requests, the second line should read 

“Tract C,” not “Tract A.”  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Does anyone else desire to address the cases in the Consent Agenda? 

If not, I would ask the record to note the change on Case 79-19.  

 

A motion to approve the Consent Agenda with the modification noted to Case 79-19 

to change “Tract A” to “Tract C” – was made by Hoyt; seconded by McGurren. 

Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 5-0. For: McGurren, Hoyt, Coleman, 

Block, and Peterson. 

 

NEW BUSINESS:  
CASE 93-19 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – TEMPUR-PEDIC – AWNINGS & 

MODIFICATIONS TO THE SIGN CRITERIA FOR TOWN CENTER PLAZA – 

Request for approval of a Revised Final Plan for Changes to the Façade of a Tenant 

Space and Changes to the Sign Criteria for Town Center Plaza, located north of 117th 

Street and east of Nall Avenue.  

 

Staff Presentation: 

City Planner Jessica Schuller made the following presentation: 

 

Ms. Schuller:  This is Case 93-19 – Town Center Plaza – Tempur-pedic – request for 

approval of a Revised Final Plan for changes to the façade of a tenant space and Sign 

Criteria for Town Center Plaza. Tempur-pedic is located on the south side of Town 

Center Plaza development. It is in the previous location of Helzberg Diamonds. The 

applicant is requesting approval of a tenant finish to replace the existing burgundy 
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awnings on the façade with blue awnings. The awnings will not be patterned or 

illuminated, and no other façade changes are proposed. The applicant is also requesting 

approval of a wall sign, which does not meet the current criteria for Town Center Plaza. 

The applicant is proposing a halo-illuminated sign with LED lighting that has 3” returns 

with colors that match the face of the sign. Currently, the criteria for Town Center Plaza 

only allows neon-illuminated signage with 5” black returns. Per Section 16-4-6.3 of the 

Leawood Development Ordinance (LDO), deviations from the private sign standards may 

be approved by the Governing Body. Approval will also amend the Sign Criteria for 

Town Center Plaza. The applicant is in compliance with the LDO, and staff recommends 

approval of Case 93-19 with the stipulations in the Staff Report. 

 

Chairman Elkins: Thank you. Are there questions for staff? 

 

Comm. Block:  Help me understand. If it was 5” before, was that to account for the size 

of the neon? It’s not going to look substantially different from the ground, I guess. 

 

Ms. Schuller:  No; it’s just that the technology has changed over time. These are much 

more efficient, and they can make thinner letters that look better with the technology we 

have today. In speaking with the sign companies, they stated it’s an outdated practice and 

they no longer do it. 

 

Comm. Block:  Compared to the signs on the rest of the complex, will it look different? 

 

Ms. Schuller:  I don’t think you’ll notice at all. 

 

Comm. Block:  And the same with the colored turns versus black? It’s minor, but I’m 

trying to understand why it changed. 

 

Ms. Schuller:  It’s a decision they made when they originally wrote these in the ‘80s-

‘90s, and over time, it has evolved. National-branded tenants aren’t choosing to make 

their colors black; a lot of them match the face with the returns. This is just bringing it up 

to date. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  I have a vague recollection in one of our many discussions about signs 

and illumination about halo-illuminated signs versus other types. Can you give us a 

primer on difference and why this will be different than illumination on the other signs? 

 

Ms. Schuller:  The halo illumination lights the letters from behind rather than the face. 

Many people think it looks more subtle, maybe a little more sophisticated. You’ll see a 

lot of it in Town Center Crossing currently. The property owners just have different 

criteria on that side. This is a direction a lot of the tenants want to go. They think it makes 

for a nice, clean-looking sign. It’s probably less illuminated than a face-lit sign would be. 

 

Chairman Elkins: This is a deviation from the Sign Criteria or from our requirements in 

the LDO? 

 



 

Leawood Planning Commission - 4 - September 24, 2019 

Ms. Schuller:  The LDO allows for the halo signage. Honestly, it was written pretty 

ambiguously in their criteria. We’re just trying to make it clear that this is an allowed 

form of illumination. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Any other questions? If not, I would invite the applicant to step 

forward. 

 

Applicant Presentation: 

Ann Hoines, Young Sign Company, 326 Choctaw Street, Leavenworth, KS, appeared 

before the Planning Commission and made the following comments: 

 

Ms. Hoines: I think she did great. She told you very clearly what they are requesting. 

Definitely, technology is changing. I am happy that you all seem to be on board with 

making changes as necessary. The depths of letters are more common at 5”; 3” is starting 

to become common. Again, it’s because LED lighting allows it to be narrower than it 

used to be. Those are all changes that are happening. As long as you’re open to those, it’s 

not a step backward; it’s a step forward.  

 

Chairman Elkins: Thank you. Do you or your client have any objections to the seven 

stipulations in the Staff Report? 

 

Ms. Hoines:  There are no issues. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there questions? Is there any discussion? 

 

CASE 93-19 – TOWN CENTER PLAZA – TEMPUR-PEDIC – AWNINGS & 

MODIFICATIONS TO THE SIGN CRITERIA FOR TOWN CENTER PLAZA – 

Request for approval of a Revised Final Plan for Changes to the Façade of a Tenant 

Space and Changes to the Sign Criteria for Town Center Plaza, located north of 

117th Street and east of Nall Avenue – was made by Coleman; seconded by 

Peterson. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 5-0. For: McGurren, Hoyt, 

Coleman, Block, and Peterson. 

 

CASE 89-19 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO 

SECTION 16-4-3, SPECIAL USE PROVISIONS – Request for approval of an 

amendment to the Leawood Development Ordinance, pertaining to Special Use Permits 

within residential districts. PUBLIC HEARING 

 

Staff Presentation: 

Assistant Director Mark Klein made the following presentation: 

 

Mr. Klein:  This is Case 89-19 – Leawood Development Ordinance Amendment 

regarding Special Use Permits (SUP) within residential districts. To give you 

background, this commission and past commissions have seen a number of different 

Special Use Permits come in. Currently, the LDO states that they have to meet the 

underlying zoning bulk regulations of the district they go in. The uses I’m talking about 
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that you typically see are schools. They’re allowed within any of the zoning districts with 

a Special Use Permit. They can go into R-1 (Planned Single-Family Low Density), MX-

D (Mixed Use), SD-CR (Planned General Retail). They just need to have an SUP, which 

allows the planning staff and the city to not give that particular application an “as of 

right” approval. In other words, they have to work with staff and make sure the project 

fits in with the surrounding area. Right now, staff does that. Where we run into 

difficulties and what we want to clarify is the fact that an independent living center or 

school could come in with surface parking, and there is nothing in the RP-1, RP-2 or RP-

3 zoning that addresses surface parking. There are no parking setbacks, nothing that says 

what the lighting should be. As I stated, staff works with the applicant to get a buffer and 

get the parking 25 feet away like it typically is within a lot of non-residential areas. We 

also try to get them to move buildings back because we’re talking about much larger 

buildings than a typical single-family house. Homestead is one you recently saw an 

addition to on State Line Road. Its 32,000 square feet, and we don’t see many homes in 

the area that size. This tries to codify what staff has been doing in working with the 

applicants to try to provide setbacks, buffering, landscaping, and lighting standards that 

are associated with a use that isn’t compatible. It also allows the applicants to be clearer 

as far as what their restrictions are. Rather than coming in blind before they even meet 

with staff, they can go and see required setbacks and parking. Staff is recommending this 

amendment to make it clearer and codify what we’ve already been doing. I’d be happy to 

answer any questions. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there questions? 

 

Comm. Block:  I didn’t know what a special use would be in a residential area, and you 

answered that as a school. 

 

Mr. Klein:  The main ones you would see are independent living facilities and schools. 

An independent living facility you’ve seen most recently was Ironhorse Center in MX-D, 

but it could go into R-1. It’s four stories tall. We still have in this amendment that they 

must still meet the height restrictions of the district. If it goes into R-1, it has a 35’ height 

limitation. That is an example of something that could go in. Homestead on State Line 

Road, close to 127th Street, is another one. Brookwood Elementary was an application 

you saw that required an SUP. It was located within an R-1 zoning district. We typically 

haven’t had a lot of problems with them because most understand that the building is 

larger and it will have parking lot lights as well as headlights. This gives us a more 

substantive base to start with and also allows them to know what the rules are upfront.  

 

Comm. Block:  So, it doesn’t change where special uses can be placed. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Correct.  

 

Chairman Elkins:  Other questions? I have a couple just to make sure I understand what’s 

going on here. As I read the existing Section 16-4-3.6, the city has the flexibility to 

impose all of the requirements that staff is proposing to add to this section of the LDO. 
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Mr. Klein:  Correct. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  By adding these requirements now, are we effectively not losing the 

flexibility because now, if for whatever reason, the applicant doesn’t abide by all of 

these, we and City Council have no latitude to grant a variance from the requirements that 

are A-H? 

 

Mr. Klein:  I think they can still get a variance. All those deviations would be available in 

the LDO. For instance, the building setback from a property line that isn’t adjacent to a 

public right-of-way could be reduced to 85% of the standard requirement. I think it takes 

it down to 34 feet. The parking lot setback could be reduced by 85%. If it is adjacent to a 

public right-of-way, it could be reduced to 75% of the standard requirement. There still is 

some flexibility. (Refers to diagram) There is no requirement to have any parking 

setback, so cars could shine lights. I’m not sure if the church preceded the residential 

neighborhood. I know today, if we had something like that, there would be a lot of 

concern. Generally, for all parking lots, we require buffering of the headlights from 

adjacent properties. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  In the current state, we could have imposed that same requirement as a 

stipulation to the case for the application of a Special Use Permit. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Yes, we could have imposed it. They could also have said that they’d be 

willing to go 5 feet and not 25 feet. It makes it a lot clearer for the applicant when 

designing the projects to meet those. Some of the setbacks are needed in order to get the 

buffer needed between the adjacent property line. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  To your point, all the deviations and variances available within the 

LDO would be available to the applicant, so items A-H would not be hard and fast 

requirements. 

 

Mr. Klein:  Correct; they always have those opportunities. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  Thank you. Are there other questions? Because this is an amendment 

to the LDO, a Public Hearing is required. 

 

Public Hearing 

 

As no one was present to speak, a motion to close the Public Hearing was made by 

Hoyt; seconded by Coleman. Motion carried with a unanimous vote of 5-0. For: 

McGurren, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, and Peterson. 

 

Chairman Elkins:  That takes us to a discussion of the proposed amendment to Section 

16-4-3 of the LDO. Are there comments or concerns? 

 

A motion to recommend approval of CASE 89-19 – LEAWOOD DEVELOPMENT 

ORDINANCE AMENDMENT TO SECTION 16-4-3, SPECIAL USE 
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PROVISIONS – Request for approval of an amendment to the Leawood 

Development Ordinance, pertaining to Special Use Permits within residential 

districts – was made by Coleman; seconded by Hoyt. Motion carried with a 

unanimous vote of 5-0. For: McGurren, Hoyt, Coleman, Block, and Peterson. 

 

MEETING ADJOURNED 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    October 22, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   October 14, 2019 
 

PLAZA POINTE – 5 O’CLOCK LIQUOR – REQUEST FOR APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
FOR PACKAGED LIQUOR SALES – Located south of 135th Street and east of Briar Street – Case 
100-19     **PUBLIC HEARING** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 100-19, Plaza Pointe – 5 O’Clock Liquor – request for approval of a 
Special Use Permit for Packaged Liquor Sales, with the stipulations stated in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is Ramesh Shakamuri with BHAHB, LLC,   

 The property is owned by Jerry Calovich with Z-Management. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Special Use Permit to allow the continued use of a packaged 
liquor sales establishment under a new applicant at 4821 W. 135th Street (5 O’Clock Liquor) within the 
Plaza Pointe development. 

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Mixed Use. 
 
LOCATION: 
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SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North To the north, past 135th Street, is Parkway Plaza, a Mixed Use Development, zoned MXD 
(Mixed Use Development), 

 South To the south of 137th Street is Church of the Resurrection, zoned AG (Agricultural) with a 
Special Use Permit for a church, 

 East To the east is The Villaggio at Leawood, zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail) and SD-
O (Planned Office Development), 

 West To the west is Cornerstone of Leawood, zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 

 
HISTORY: 

 On August 20, 2001, the Governing Body approved a Special Use permit for Packaged Liquor 
Sales for Zipz! Convenience Store and Retail on the subject site. Since then, the ownership 
has changed along with the operations of the retail store. Most recently, a Special Use Permit 
was approved by the Governing Body on June 5, 2017 (Ordinance #2837). 

 The Special Use Permit is issued to the applicant of the establishment and does not run with 
the land.  
 

SITE PLAN COMMENTS: 

 The tenant space of the liquor store is located in the northwest quadrant of the Plaza Pointe 
development, with the entrance of the convenience store facing west. 

 Shared parking for the development is located west of the liquor store. 

 No changes to the site or elevations of the building are proposed with this application. 

 The applicant noted that the business hours of the store will remain the same as in the past. 
The business hours are listed below: 
Monday – Thursday   11:00 am – 9:00 pm 
Friday – Saturday  11:00 am – 10:00 pm 
Sunday     12:00 pm – 5:00 pm 

 The Kansas Liquor Control Act regulates the location of retail liquor stores.  Among these regulations 
is a provision restricting the establishment of retail liquor stores within 200’ of a school, college or 
church.  5 O’Clock Liquor is not in violation of this Act.   

 
INTERACT MEETING: 

 An Interact meeting was held on October 1, 2019. A summary of the meeting and sign in sheet are 
attached. 

 
SIGNAGE: 

 No signage is proposed with this application. The name of the store is not proposed to be changed at 
this time. If the store is to change it’s name at a later date and a new sign needed, a permanent sign 
plan application must be submitted to the Planning Department and will have the ability to be 
administratively approved by the Director of Community Development. 

 
GOLDEN FACTORS: 
The character of the neighborhood: 
The subject property is within the Plaza Pointe development, located south of 135th Street and east of Briar. 
The area is characterized by a mix of retail and office uses, a regional church, and arterial and collector 
streets. 
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The zoning and uses of properties nearby: 

 North To the north, past 135th Street, is Parkway Plaza, a Mixed Use Development, zoned MXD 
(Mixed Use Development) 

 South To the south of 137th Street is Church of the Resurrection, zoned AG (Agricultural) with a 
Special Use Permit for a church. 

 East To the east is The Villaggio at Leawood, zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail) and SD-
O (Planned Office Development) 

 West To the west is Cornerstone of Leawood, currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 

 
The suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 
The subject property is suitable for packaged liquor sales since it is located within a retail convenience 
store along a primary arterial, within a commercial/office development, zoned SD-CR. This location has 
existed as a retail liquor sales establishment since 2001. 
 
The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby properties: 
Although the subject property is suitable for retail liquor sales, the recommended stipulations are necessary 
to ensure that the project conforms to City standards and to ensure that nearby property is not detrimentally 
affected. 
 
The length of time that the property has been vacant: 
The subject property is within the Plaza Pointe development. The subject tenant space has been used for 
packaged liquor sales since 2001. 
 
The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the application: 
Retail liquor sales are classified as Packaged Liquor Sales by the Leawood Development Ordinance, which 
is a permitted use subject to a Special Use Permit in the SD-CR zoning district. The Leawood Development 
Ordinance regulates Special use Permits such that they run with the applicant rather than the land or use, 
therefore a new Special Use Permit is required despite the fact that the subject property has been an 
operating retail liquor store since 2001. Denial of the application may impose a hardship upon the owner 
as the site has been used as a liquor store since 2001. The relative gain to public health, safety, and welfare 
would be minimal if the project were denied. The subject property is required to comply with State and City 
regulations and has been an operating retail liquor store since 2001. Should issues arise in the future, the 
public health, safety, and welfare are protected by the Special Use Permit revocation procedures as 
provided in the Leawood Development Ordinance. 
 
The recommendation of the permanent staff: 
Staff recommends approval of the Special Use Permit. 
 
Conformance of the requested change to the adopted Comprehensive Plan of the City of Leawood: 
The Special Use Permit request is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan, which designates the 
subject property as Mixed Use. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 100-19, Plaza Pointe – 5 O’Clock Liquor,  
request for approval of a Special Use Permit for Packaged Liquor Sales under a new operator, with the 
following stipulations: 
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1. The Special Use Permit shall be issued for a Packaged Liquor Sales establishment and apply only to 
BHAHB, LLC, and is nontransferable. 

2. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, this Special Use Permit is limited to a term of 20 years from 
the date of Governing Body approval. 

3. In the event the allowed use is discontinued for a period of three months or more, the Special Use shall 
be determined abandoned, and this permit shall become null and void. 

4. No signage is approved with this application. A sign permit from the Community Development 
Department shall be obtained prior to erecting of any permanent signs.   

5. The hours of operation shall be limited to the following: 

 Monday – Thursday  11:00 AM – 9:00 PM 

 Friday – Saturday   11:00 AM – 10:00 PM  

 Sunday     12 :00 PM – 5:00 PM 
6. The conditions and stipulations of the currently approved preliminary plan (Planning Commission Case 

29-01) and final plan (Planning Commission Case 39-01) shall remain in full force and effect except to 
the extent expressly modified herein.   

7. In addition to the stipulations listed herein, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 
ordinances of the City of Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation has been granted, and 
to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations one through seven.   
 







         October 23, 2019 

To Whom It May Concern, 

The 5 O’Clock Liquor Interact Meeting was held on October 22nd, 2019 from 

6:00pm to 8pm.   

 

There were no attendees at this meeting. 

 

Thank you, 

Dan Edwards 

Lisa Vaughn 

Venkatramesh Shakamuri 
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City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    October 22, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   October 15, 2019 
 

LEAWOOD ELEMENTARY SCHOOL – TEMPORARY MODULAR CLASSROOMS – REQUEST FOR 
APPROVAL OF A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR A TEMPORARY MODULAR CLASSROOM BUILDING, 
REVISED PRELIMINARY PLAN, PRELIMINARY PLAT, REVISED FINAL PLAN, AND FINAL PLAT – 
Located north of 123rd Street and west of State Line Road - Case 101-19        **PUBLIC HEARING** 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 101-19, Leawood Elementary School – Temporary Modular 
Classrooms – request for approval of a Special Use Permit for a Temporary Modular Classroom Building, 
Preliminary Plat, Preliminary Plan, Revised Final Plat, and Final Plan, with the stipulations stated in the 
staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant and architect is Brad Kiehl with HTK Architects, 

 The property is owned by the Unified School District 229, 

 The engineer is David Wood with Kaw Valley Engineering. 
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Special Use Permit to allow for 1,458 sq.ft., two-classroom 
modular building to be placed at the northeast corner of the existing elementary school. 

 The applicant is also replatting the two existing lots occupied by the school district into a single lot. 
 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Institutional. 
 
SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North To the north of the school is the single family residential subdivision of Verona Gardens, 
zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District), 

 South To the south of the school is 123rd Street.  South of 123rd Street is the single family 
residential subdivision of Hunter’s Ridge, zoned R-1 , 

 East To the east of the school is the single family residential subdivision of Pembroke Court, 
zoned RP-4 (Planned Cluster Residential, previous Leawood Development Ordinance), 

 West To the west of the school is Verona Gardens single family residential subdivision, zoned 
R-1. 
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LOCATION: 

 
 
SITE PLAN COMMENTS: 

 Leawood Elementary School is located on the south side of the property, adjacent to 123rd 
Street. Leawood Middle School is located directly to the north.  

 The modular classrooms are proposed to be located at the northeast corner of the existing 
elementary school, along the west side of an internal drive providing access to the front of the 
elementary school. 

 The proposed modular classrooms are located approximately 561’ from the western common 
property line of the Pembroke Court residential subdivision, located directly east of the school 
site. 

 The modular classroom building is 1,458 Sq. Ft. and  approximately 54’ long X 27’ wide X 
14’10 ¾” tall.  An aluminum deck attached to the western façade. 

 The modular classroom building will be screened on the south and west sides by the existing 
elementary school.  Several existing trees will have to be removed to allow the placement of 
the temporary, modular, classroom building. 

 Two classrooms are proposed within the modular building. Both entrances to the classrooms 
face to the west, towards the elementary school, and include both stairs and an ADA ramp. 

 The area between the proposed modular building and the school will be enclosed within a 
black, vinyl coated chain link fence. 

 Existing sidewalks are located along the east and south sides of the proposed modular 
classrooms.  The applicant is proposing to construct a sidewalk extension that is 5’ in width 
and that will connect with existing sidewalk to the south, connecting the modular classroom 
building to the elementary school.  Gates will be provided where the fence crosses the 
sidewalk at the southwest corner of the modular building.   
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MODULAR CLASSROOM BULK REGULATIONS: 

Criteria Required Provided Compliance 

Front Setback 35’ 433’ Complies 
Side Yard Setback 15’ 406’ Complies 
Rear Setback 826’* 847’ Complies 
Height Limit 35’ 14’ 10 ¾”  Complies 
Open Space 30% 67% Complies 

*Rear Setbacks are calculated based on the Leawood Development Bulk Regulation Requirement of 70% X (Lot depth – 150) + 30 

 
PLAT COMMENTS: 

 The existing elementary and middle schools are located on two lots, which have an irregular shape that 
divides the existing buildings. 

 The applicant is proposing to remove an interior lot line, and combine the two lots into one lot.  

 The newly created lot will be approximately 37.29 acres. 

 The new lot will include the following easements: 
 

Easement Location 

20’ Water District No. 1 Easement Located south of the northern common property line, off of  
High Drive. 

10’ KCP&L Easement Located in the middle of the lot, coming off the southern  
main entrance. 

10’ Right Of Way Easement to Water 
District No. 1 

Located adjacent to the southern common property line. 

 
ELEVATIONS: 

 The modular classroom building is approximately 54’ long X 27’ wide X 14’10 ¾” tall, with 1,458 Sq. Ft. 
An aluminum deck is attached to the western façade. 

 The proposed modular classroom building is a single story building, constructed with pre-finished metal 
siding that is almond in color. Four pre-finished windows are located on the east and west elevations of 
the trailer. 

 The proposed height of the trailer is 14’-10 ¾” in height. 

 Two entrances are provided on the west side of the building facing the elementary school. 

 Locations for installed mechanical utilities are shown on the north and south exterior walls of the 
building along with ventilation. 

 An aluminum ramp is provided on the west side of the building to connect with the sidewalk, providing 
an ADA accessible route to the building. 

 The color of the roof, walls, downspouts, and skirt of the modular classroom will be Almond in color.  
The color of the stairs, ramps and handrails will be Galvalume Plus. 

 The applicant is proposing a fence that will connect the modular classrooms to the existing elementary 
school. The fence is 4’ tall and will be black in color. 
  

LANDSCAPING: 

 The applicant is proposing to remove a total of five shade trees and six ornamental trees. All of the 
trees to be removed will be less than 12” caliper. 

 All trees are to be replaced with new shade and ornamental trees at a 1:1 tree quantity ratio.  



4 

 A eight of the replaced trees will be located within a landscaped median between two school drives, 
east of the modular classroom.  

 Thirty shrubs are proposed to surround the north, east and south sides of the proposed modular 
classroom.  The shrubs will be 24” in height at the time of planting and will include: Densiformis Yews, 
Koreanspice Viburnum, and Little Lime Hydrangea. 
 

SIGNAGE: 

 No signage will be placed on the facades of the modular classrooms. 
 

LIGHTING: 

 Lighting luminaires for normal operation of the modular classroom are proposed for emergency egress. 
These lights will be placed on the western façade of the trailer between the two entry doors, and facing 
the existing elementary school building. The lights will be colored to match the siding of the modular 
building and will not show the source of illumination. 

 
REQUESTED DEVIATIONS: 

 No deviations are being requested with this application. 
 
INTERACT MEETING: 

 An Interact meeting was held on October 9, 2019. A summary of the meeting and sign in sheet are 
attached. 

 
GOLDEN FACTORS: 
The character of the neighborhood: 
The subject property is located north of 123rd Street and west of High Drive. The area is characterized by 
single family residential neighborhoods surrounding the property on three sides, and an arterial street to 
the south, followed by single family residential. 
 
The zoning and uses of properties nearby: 

 North To the north of the school is the single family residential subdivision of Verona Gardens, 
zoned R-1 (Planned Single Family Low Density Residential District), 

 South To the south of the school is 123rd Street.  South of 123rd Street is the single family 
residential subdivision of Hunter’s Ridge, zoned R-1,  

 East To the east of the school is the single family residential subdivision of Pembroke Court, 
zoned RP-4 (Planned Cluster Residential, previous Leawood Development Ordinance), 

 West To the west of the school is of the Verona Gardens single family residential subdivision, 
zoned R-1. 

 
The suitability of the subject property for uses to which it has been restricted: 
The subject property is suitable for institutional purposes since it is located within a low/medium density 
residential area. Additionally, a school facility is an approved use within the R-1 zoning district with the 
issuance of a Special Use Permit. This location has existed as a school since 1990 
 
The extent to which removal of the restrictions will detrimentally affect nearby properties: 
Although the subject property is suitable for educational uses, the recommended stipulations are necessary 
to ensure that the project conforms to City standards and to ensure that nearby property is not detrimentally 
affected. 
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The length of time that the property has been vacant: 
The subject property has been used for educational purposes since 1990 
 
The relative gain to the public health, safety, and welfare due to the denial of the application as 
compared to the hardship imposed, if any, as a result of denial of the application: 
Elementary and middle schools are a permitted use subject to a Special Use Permit in the R-1 zoning 
district. Denial of the application may impose a hardship upon the owner as the site has been using the 
site for educational purposes since 1990and have an influx of students that the current building is unable 
to hold. There would not be a relative gain to public health, safety, and welfare if the application were 
denied. The subject property is required to comply with State and City regulations and has been a school 
since 1990 Should issues arise in the future, the public health, safety, and welfare are protected by the 
Special Use Permit revocation procedures as provided in the Leawood Development Ordinance. 
 
The recommendation of the permanent staff: 
Staff recommends approval of the Special Use Permit, with the stipulations stated in the staff report. 
 
Conformance of the requested change to the adopted master plan of the City of Leawood: 
The Special Use Permit request is in conformance with the Comprehensive Plan, which designates the 
subject property as Institutional.  In addition, elementary and middle schools are permitted within the R-1 
zoning district with a Special Use Permit. 
 
STAFF COMMENTS: 

 The applicant has made mention that they expect the trailer to be placed on the site and in use for up 
to five years. The Leawood Development Ordinance only allows for temporary buildings or structures 
on a temporary use of land be allowed a Special Use Permit to be valid for no more than two years, 
but may be renewed when the current Special Use Permit is to shortly expire (Stipulation #2). 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 101-19, Leawood Elementary – Temporary 
Modular Classrooms - request for approval of a Special Use Permit for a Temporary Modular Classroom 
building, Revised Preliminary Plan, Preliminary Plat, Revised Final Plan, and Final Plat, with the following 
stipulations: 
1. The project is limited to one 1,458 Sq. Ft. temporary modular classroom located on the east side of the 

elementary school. 
2. The term of the Special Use Permit shall be limited to two years from the date of Governing Body 

approval. At the end of the two year limit, two year extensions may be requested by the holder of the 
Special Use Permit.  

3. The Special Use Permit shall be issued to Unified School District 229.  
4. The downspouts located on the exterior of the modular classroom shall be painted to match the color 

of the exterior of the building. 
5. The light fixtures on the exterior of the modular classroom shall be of a light temperature of a maximum 

of 3000K. 
6.  All power lines, utility lines, etc. (both existing and proposed, including utilities and power lines 

adjacent to and within abutting right-of-way) are required to be placed underground. 
7. All utility boxes, not otherwise approved with the final development plan, with a height of less than 55 

inches, a footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, or a pad footprint of 15 sq.ft. in area or less, shall be 
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installed only with the prior approval of the Director of Community Development as being in compliance 
with the Leawood Development Ordinance. 

8. All new utility boxes with a height of 55 inches or greater, a footprint greater than 15 square feet in 
area, or a pad footprint greater than 15 square feet in area, shall be authorized only by approval of a 
special use permit prior to construction.   

9. Exterior ground-mounted or building-mounted equipment including, but not limited to, mechanical 
equipment, utilities, meter banks and air conditioning units, shall be painted to blend with the building 
and screened from public view with landscaping or with an architectural treatment compatible with the 
building structure. 

10. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all medium and large deciduous trees (including street 
trees), shall be 2 ½” caliper as measured 6” above the ground, all small deciduous and ornamental 
trees shall be a minimum of 1 ½” caliper as measured 6” above the ground, conifers and evergreen 
trees shall be a minimum of 6’ in height, and shrubs shall be a 24” in height at the time of planting. 

11. The approved final landscape plan shall contain the following statements: 
a. All trees shall be callipered and undersized trees shall be rejected. 
b. All plant identification tags shall remain until issuance of a Final Certificate of Occupancy.   
c. Any deviation to the approved final landscape plan shall require the written approval of the 

landscape architect and the City of Leawood, prior to installation. 
d. All landscaped open space shall consist of a minimum of 60% living materials. 

12. A letter, signed and sealed by a Kansas registered Landscape Architect, shall be submitted prior to 
final occupancy that states that all landscaping has been installed per the approved landscape plan 
and all plant material used is to the highest standards of the nursery industry. 

13. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, at the time of planting, plant material screening the ground 
mounted utilities shall be a minimum of 6” taller than the utility it is to screen, with lower shrubs in the 
foreground to eliminate any gaps in screening. 

14. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, all landscaped areas shall be irrigated. 
15. All sidewalks shall be installed as per street construction standards. 
16. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, the source of illumination of all proposed light fixtures shall 

not be visible. 
17. Per the Leawood Development Ordinance, a maximum of 0.5 foot-candles is permitted at the property 

line. 
18. No signage is approved with this application. 
19. No construction shall be allowed between the hours of 9:00 p.m. to 7:00 a.m. and not on Sundays. 
20. All construction traffic shall use the 123rd Street access only. 
21. An erosion control plan for both temporary and permanent measures to be taken during and after 

construction shall be required at the time of application for building permit. 
22. All sidewalks shall be installed as per street construction standards. 
23. The conditions and stipulations of the original preliminary plan approval shall remain in full force and 

effect except to the extent expressly modified herein. 
24. Development rights under this approval shall vest in accordance with K.S.A. 12-764. 
25. In addition to the stipulations listed herein, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the City of Leawood including the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation 
has been granted, and to execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations 
one through twenty-five. 
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NEW MOBILE LOCATION

A R C H I T E C T S

LVE-LES MOBILE CLASSROOM RELOCATION
BLUE VALLEY USD 229

1" = 40'-0"1
SITE PLAN

NORTH 

SIDE/FRONT ELEVATION

FRONT ELEVATION



DN

27'-0"

DN

DN

33/6.6"

34"
FE

33/6.6"

34"

FE

EXISTING ELEMENTARY SCHOOL

CLASSROOM
100

CLASSROOM
101

1 HR. EXISTING 

RATED EXTERIOR 

WALL

20'-0"

FIRE SEPARATION DISTANCE

1 HR. EXISTING 

RATED, NO 

OPENINGS

EXIT- EXTERIOR

1
2

1
2

EXIT- INTERIOR (Assembly occ.
over 50 and exits from floors.)

FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION

STANDPIPE

HOSE CABINET

HOSE CABINET WITH
EXTINGUISHER

FIRE EXTINGUISHER SPACING
(Show Radius)

SPECIAL COVERAGE

NON PROTECTED EXIT PATH

LIMITED PROTECTION EXIT PATH

PROTECTED EXIT PATH

PROTECTED EXIT PATH
(Sprinklered R Occupancy)

1 HOUR EXIT PASSAGEWAY

2 HOUR EXIT PASSAGEWAY

1 HOUR EXIT ENCLOSURE
(vertical) (stairwell- 3 stories or less)

2 HOUR EXIT ENCLOSURE
(vertical) ( stairwell- 4 stories or more)

1 HOUR FIRE BARRIER
(Occupancy and Incidental Use Areas)

2 HOUR FIRE BARRIER
(Occupancy)

3 HOUR FIRE BARRIER
(Occupancy)

4 HOUR FIRE BARRIER
(Occupancy)

2 HOUR FIRE WALL
(Building Separation)

3 HOUR FIRE WALL
(Building Separation)

4 HOUR FIRE WALL
(Building Separation)

1 HOUR SHAFT
(3 stories or less)

2 HOUR EXIT ENCLOSURE
(4 stories or more)

SPRINKLERED INCIDENTAL
USE AREAS

FIRE PARITITIONS (dwelling/unit
seperation) (I-1 and R occupancies)

SMOKE BARRIERS (I-2  and I-3
occupancies)

ACCUMULATED EXIT WIDTH AT
REQUIRED EXIT (clear width)

PUBLIC FIRE HYDRANT
(show distance from building)

ROOM DESIGNATION

SHOW ACCUMULATED OCCUPANT
LOADS FOR COMPLEX EXIT PATHS

OTHER SYMBOLS AS REQUIRED

FIRE EXTINGUISHER

1 1

2 2

1 1

2 2

2 2

2 23 3

4 4

1 1

2 2

Show Radius

Limited Sprinkler Coverage

None per exemption for fully Sprinklered A, B, E, F, M, S, & U
Occupancies

Automatic Smoke Detection Throughout Exit Path.

1 Hour Fire Partition wall construction. 20 -minute rated door
assembly.  Fire & Smoke Dampers.

1/2 Hour Fire Partition wall construction. 20 -minute rated door
assembly.  Fire & Smoke Dampers.

1 Hour Fire Barrier wall construction.  No openings other than
required exit doors.  1-hour door assembly

2 Hour Fire Barrier wall construction.  No openings other than
required exit doors.  1 1/2-hour door assembly

1 Hour Fire Barrier wall construction.  No openings other than
required exit doors.  1-hour door assembly

2 Hour Fire Barrier wall construction.  No openings other than
required exit doors.  1 1/2-hour door assembly

1 hour Fire Barrier wall construction.  3/4 hr. rated door
assembly. Fire Dampers. (edit f.d. requirement for sprinklered buildings)

2 hour Fire Barrier wall construction.  1 1/2 hour rated door
assembly.  Fire Dampers.

3 hour Fire Barrier wall construction.  3 hour rated door
assembly.  Fire Dampers.

4 hour Fire Barrier wall construction.  3 hour rated door
assembly.  Fire Dampers.

2 hour Fire Wall construction per IBC 705.  1 1/2 hour door
assembly.  Fire dampers when ductwork is allowed to penetrate wall.

3 hour Fire Wall construction per IBC 705.  3 hour door
assembly.  Fire dampers when ductwork is allowed to penetrate wall.

4 hour Fire Wall construction per IBC 705.  3 hour door
assembly.  Fire dampers when ductwork is allowed to penetrate wall.

1 hour Fire Barrier wall construction.  1 hour door assembly.
Fire/smoke Dampers.

2 hour Fire Barrier wall construction.  1 1/2 hour door assembly.
Fire/smoke Dampers.

Wall construction to resist the passage of smoke from floor to floor to F.R. 
floor/ceiling assembly.  Self or automatic closing doors w/ no air transfer grilles.

1 hour resistive rated walls.  3/4 hour rated door assembly.
Fire Dampers.

1 hour resistive rated walls.  20 minute rated door assembly.
Smoke Dampers

Occupants/Required width

Provided Width

Room type/Occupancy Type

Maximum Allowable Occupants

198/39.6"

68"

CONF. / A4

65

40        80

40

SYMBOL DESCRIPTION PROTECTIVE ELEMENTS

CODE SYMBOL LEGEND

GENERAL INFORMATION:

LOCATION: AGENCY INFORMATION: 

REASON FOR SUBMITTAL:

RESPONDING FIRE
DEPARTMENT:
AUTHORITIES HAVING
JURISDICTION:

LVE-LES MOBILE 
CLASSROOM RELOCATION
2400 w 123rd ST. 
LEAWOOD, KS 66209

BLUE VALLEY USD 229
15020 METCALF AVE
OVERLAND PARK, K 
S66283
   ALTERATION

LEAWOOD FIRE DEPT.

Department of Facilities Management
Kansas State Fire Marshal's Office

PROJECT DESCRIPTION:

RELOCATION OF EXISTING MOBILE CLASSROOM AT LIBERY VIEW ELEMENTARY TO LEAWOOD ELEMENTARY.  

APPLICABLE CODES- UNIVERSITY OF KANSAS

State Law establishes a minimum Life Safety and has a uniform effect throughout the 
State.  KSA 31-133 and KSA 2003 Supp. 31-134 require that all occupied structures 
conform to the basic life safety requirements:
A) Existing occupied buildings cannot have hazardous conditions which slow speedy 
exits.
B) Alteration of existing buildings cannot make existing conditions worse or block exits.
C) New construction and changes in use are subject to greater life safety requirements.

2012- International Building Code
2012- International Mechanical Code
2012- International Plumbing Code
2012- International Fuel Gas Code
2012- International Energy Code
National Fire Protection Agency 
(NFPA)
Kansas Fire Protection Code

2011- National Electrical Code
2012- International Fire Code
2010 - ADAAG
Americans with Disabilities Act

OCCUPANCY  (Section 303) & STRUCTURAL CLASSIFICATION

Group E (Education) 

BUILDING HEIGHT AND AREA:

Total GSF 1,458 sq. ft.

WATER SUPPLY- FLOW TESTS:

Static:
Residual:
Flow:

Date:
Location:

PASSIVE LIFE SAFETY SYSTEMS:

Corridor Ratings:
Stairwells:
Shafts:
Occupancy Separations:

None
None
None
None

REGISTERED DESIGN PROFESSIONALS:

HTK Architects, PA
9300 W. 110th St. Suite 150
Overland Park, KS 66210
913-663-5373

900 S. Kansas Ave., Suite 200
Topeka, KS 66612
785-266-5373

ACTIVE LIFE SAFETY SYSTEMS:

Fire Alarm:

FACP:
Remote Annunciator Panel:
Smoke Detection:
MNS:
Exit Signs:
Egress Lighting:

Emergency Lights:

Backup Power:
Suppression- Standpipes:
Suppression- Automatic:

Fire Extinguishers:

Required/Provided: Existing components to get 
tied into system at Timber Creek. 
None
None
Required/Provided: 
Not Required
Required/Provided: Provided per IBC 1011
Required/Provided: Battery backup via Integral 
Ballast or Inverter
Required/Provided: Battery backup via Integral 
Ballast or Inverter
None
None
None

Required/Provided: 2 Existing provided. 

GENERAL BUILDING LIMITATIONS:

Construction Type V-B Structural Fire Ratings
Structural frame including columns, girders & trusses:
Bearing exterior walls:
Bearing interior walls:
Nonbearing exterior walls & partitions:
Nonbearing interior walls & partitions:
Floor construction including supporting beams & joists:
Roof construction including supporting beams & joists:

Table 601
0 HR
0 HR
0 HR
0 HR
0 HR
0 HR
0 HR

ACTUAL AREA:
01 Stories - 15'
ACTUAL HEIGHT:

E Occupancy 9500 sq. ft.
ALLOWABLE AREA:

01 Stories
40'

ALLOWABLE HEIGHT:

Pending
Pending
Pending

IMPORTANT- ANY DEVIATIONS 
FROM THIS DOCUMENT MAY 
RESULT IN THE DELAY OF ISSUING 
THE CERTIFICATE OF 
OCCUPANCY.  CHANGES 
AFFECTING THIS CODE 
FOOTPRINT SHALL BE 
DOCUMENTED BY THE 
CONSULTANT AND APPROVED BY 
THE AUTHORITY HAVING 
JURISDICTION.

OWNER

KSFM

DFM CODE COMPLIANCE COORDINATOR

DATE

DATE

DATE

P P

PLUMBING FIXTURE COUNT: EXISTING FACILITIES

Occupancy
Type

Water
Closet

Lavatory Drinking 
Fountain

Shower

CLASSROOMS 16 16 16 1

Total Provided Fixtures 39 31 18 7

Total Required Fixtures 24 21.4 19 3

FE

OFFICE 2 2 1 1

GYMNASIUM 1.3 .5 - 1

CAFETERIA 2.7 .9 .7 -

PLUMBING FIXTURE COUNT: ADDITIONAL FIXTURES REQUIRED

MOBILE 
CLASSROOM

2 2 1 -
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LVE - LES MOBILE CLASSROOM RELOCATION

SHEET INDEX

BLUE VALLEY UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 229

HTK ARCHITECTS, PA

ANTELLA CONSULTING ENGINEERS MECHANICAL & ELECTRICAL ENGINEER

BOB D. CAMPBELL & CO. STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

OWNER

ARCHITECT

1/8" = 1'-0"1
CODE PLAN

000 DEVELOPMENT PLAN

G101 TITLE SHEET

AS101 SITE PLAN

A101 ARCHITECTURAL FLOOR PLAN, DEMO PLAN & 

REFLECTED CEILING PLAN

A201 BUILDING ELEVATIONS

C100 SITE & DIMENSION PLAN

C200 DEMOLITION PLAN

C300 GRADING PLAN

KAW VALLEY ENGINEERING CIVIL ENGINEER

RICK BARRETT LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT



EXISTING ELEMENTARY SCHOOL NEW MOBILE LOCATION

A101

2
Sim

FLINT STREET

NEW TREES REF. LANDSCAPE PLAN

4
"

4
"

4
"

4
"

1/2"

4" MIN. 4"

1"

EXPANSION JT.

CONTROL JT.

LINE OF WALL OR VERTICAL

ELEMENT

1/2" DIA. X 1' - 0" SMOOTH

DOWEL RODS @ 12" O.C.,

LUBRICATE ONE END

EXPANSION FILLER

3000 PSI  CONCRETE

TOOLED JT., TROWEL-CUT

TO REINF.

WIRE MESH (6X6 - W1.4xW1.4)

4"  AB3

LINE OF THICKENED EDGE

(SIM. TO E.J.) @ EACH

EXPOSED EDGE.

4" AB3

WIRE MESH (6X6 - W1.4xW1.4)

LINE OF THICKENED EDGE

(SIM. TO E.J.) @ EACH

EXPOSED EDGE
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(DETAILS LOCATED ON THIS SHEET, 

PRECEEDING SHEETS AND 
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NOTE: REFER TO STRUCTURAL 

DRAWINGS FOR REINFORCING STEEL 

IN EXTERIOR WALLS AND CONCRETE 
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SITE PLAN

SEPTEMBER 17, 2019

1907.04
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REV 1: OCTOBER 2, 2019

1" = 40'-0"1
SITE PLAN

NORTH 

TREE DETAILS2

NOTE: PROTECTION OF ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS IS 

THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE CONTRACTOR DURING 

INSTALLATION. ANY DAMAGE TO EXISTING SOD, 

TREES, SIDEWALKS, OR BUILDING WILL BE 

REPLACED AT NO COST TO THE OWNER. 

1 1/2" = 1'-0"4
TYPICAL CONCRETE WALK DTLS.
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A) EXISTING CONC. PIERS AT LIBERTY VIEW ELEMENTARY TO BE REMOVED 

AFTER MOBILE HAS BEEN RELOCATED. INFILL PIER FOOTING HOLES & PROVIDE 

SOD AT EXISTING MOBILE LOCATION FOOTPRINT.

B) REMOVE EXISTING 8' TALL TREES (2) IN NEW LOCATION BUILDING FOOTPRINT.

C)  EXISTING CUBBIES IN MOBILE TO BE PROTECTED DURING CONSTRUCTION & 

RELOCATION. REMOVE, SALVAGE, & REINSTALL AS REQUIRED FOR COMPLETION 

OF WORK. REMOVE PRIOR TO MOBILE RELOCATION. REINSTALL AFTER MOBILE 

IS LOCATED ON NEW SITE & FINISHES HAVE BEEN INSTALLED. 

GENERAL:  COORDINATE WITH WORK SHOWN ON 

STRUCTURAL, MECHANICAL, AND ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS.

REINSTALL 24"x24" CARPET FLOORING TILE AND 

CASEWORK.

PROVIDE AN 18" W X 6" D 20 GA. STAINLESS 

STEEL COVER OVER THE ENTIRETY OF THE 

EXPOSED CONDUIT.

INSTALL NEW BUILDING SKIRTING ALONG 

PERIMETER. REF. DETAILS. SKIRTING TO MATCH 

EXISTING MOBILE IN PROFILE & COLOR.

NEW 4" CONCRETE SLAB ON 4" AB3. PROVIDE 

THICKENED SLAB (8") BENEATH METAL SKIRTING.  

REF. DTL. 4 & 5A101. 

1

2

3

4

EXISTING RAMP, STAIR, & LANDINGS INSTALLED 

AT NEW LOCATION TO MATCH EXISTING LAYOUT. 

INSTALL PIER FOOTINGS UNDER SUPPORTS. 

WHERE NOT SUPPORTED BY SIDEWALK. REF. 

STRUCT. MAINTAIN MAX. 1:12 SLOPE WHEN RAMP 

IS INSTALLED. MAINTAIN 1:48 CROSS SLOPE.

5

REFER TO THE LANDSCAPE PLAN FOR TREE 

LOCATIONS.  

6

LANDING AT ENTRY SHALL BE A MAXIMUM OF 

1/2" BELOW FINISH FLOOR ELEVATION OF 

CLASSROOM IN ORDER TO PROVIDE AN ADA 

ACCESIBLE ENTRY. 

7

PAINT EXISTING DOOR. PROVIDE NEW WEATHER 

STRIPPING. COLOR TO MATCH METAL SKIN.  

8

NEW CONC. SIDEWALK TO MATCH 

DETAILING/REINFORCING FOR CONC. STOOP. 

PROVIDE COMPRESSIBLE FILLER ALONG 

BUILDING EDGE. ALL SLAB EDGES TO BE 

THICKENED TO 8". DOWEL INTO EXISTING 

SIDEWALK MIN. 6". PROVIDE CONTROL JOINTS AT 

5'-0" O.C. REF. SUPPLEMENTAL DETAIL. 

9

PROVIDE AN 18" W X 6" D 22 GA. ALMOND 

COLOR, PRE-FINISHED MTL. COVER OVER THE 

ENTIRETY OF THE EXPOSED CONDUIT.

10

GENERAL:  COORDINATE WITH WORK SHOWN ON 

STRUCTURAL, MECHANICAL, AND ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS.

REINSTALL 2'x2' CEILING TILE & GRID. 1

2

3

EXISTING LIGHT FIXTURE SALVAGED DURING 

DEMOLITION. CLEAN & REINSTALL IN LOCATION 

TO MATCH EXISTING LAYOUT. 

EXISTING GRILLE SALVAGED DURING 

DEMOLITION. CLEAN & REINSTALL IN LOCATION 

TO MATCH EXISTING LAYOUT.
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FACE OF BUILDING

MODULAR BLDG.

16" WIDE X 8" DEEP 

CONCRETE APRON W/ 

(2) #5 CONT. AROUND 

PERIMETER OF STUD 

WALL (TYP.)

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

4" CRUSHED ROCK

METAL SKIRT SIDING TO 

MATCH EXISTING ON 

18GA. 3 5/8" GALV. MT'L 

STUDS @ 2'-0" OC W/ 

EXPAN. TRACK AT BASE 

TO ALLOW FOR MIN. 1" 

MOVEMENT

TREATED WOOD 

BLOCKING - ANCHOR 

INTO CONC. 

CMU ON CONC SUPPORT PAD

REF. STRUCT. FOR SIZING

EXISTING BUILDING 

STRUCTURE

TREATED 2X WOOD 

SHIMS, CONTINUOUS

EXISTING RAMP & RAILING

SLOPE (1:12) MAX

ADJUSTABLE RAMP 

SUPPORTS

REUSE EXISTING 

HARDWARE. ANCHOR INTO 

PIERS OR SLAB

CONCRETE 

PIERS REF. 

STRUCT.

ANCHOR 

SUPPORTS INTO 

CONC. 

4" THICK CONCRETE 

PAVING

1

1

3

3

2

2

2

DN

5

5

4

4

DN

DN

8

2

7

7

GENERAL:  COORDINATE WITH NEW CONSTRUCTION AND WORK SHOWN ON 

STRUCTURAL, MECHANICAL, AND ELECTRICAL DRAWINGS.

REMOVE EXISTING CABINETS AND 4" VINYL WALL JOINT COVER.  REINSTALL 

AT THE NEW BUILDING LOCATION. 

REMOVE EXISTING BUILDING SKIRT ALONG PERIMETER. PREP TO 

RECIEVE NEW SKIRTING AT NEW LOCATION. 

REMOVE EXISTING CARPET TILE & MASTICS AT BUILDING JOINT.  REINSTALL 

CARPET TILE AT NEW LOCATION.   

CEILING GRIDS & TILES TO BE REMOVED AT BUILDING JOINT LOCATION.  

REINSTALL AT NEW LOCATION. 

1

2

3

4

EXISTING RAMP, STAIR, & LANDINGS TO BE SALVAGED FOR REINSTALLAION. 

PROPER FIELD MEASUREMENTS & DOCUMENTATION OF EXISTING LAYOUT TO 

BE DONE TO ENSURE LAYOUT MATCHES AT NEW LOCATION. 

5

NOT USED.6

DEMO EXISTING MOW STRIP, CONCRETE PIERS, GRAVEL AND SEGMENTAL 

RETANING WALL. INFILL VOID WITH COMPACTED FILL DIRT.  PREPARE NEW 

LOCATION TO RECEIVE PIER FOOTINGS, GRAVEL BASE AND SIDEWALKS  

WHERE APPLICABLE. 

7

EXISTING CONC. PAD UNDER ALUM. RAMPS TO REMAIN.8

1) GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY THE ARCHITECT OF ANY 

DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN SPECIFICATIONS AND DRAWINGS, BETWEEN 

MULTIPLE SPECIFICATION SECTIONS AND/OR BETWEEN MULTIPLE 

DRAWINGS. THE ARCHITECT WILL DETERMINE WHICH SHALL GOVERN.

2) GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS AND 

CONDITIONS OF THE JOB SITE INCLUDING UTILITIES AND EXISTING 

STRUCTURES PRIOR TO BEGINNING WORK AND REPORT ANY 

DISCREPANCIES TO THE ARCHITECT.

3) GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR STABILITY 

OF THE STRUCTURE DURING CONSTRUCTION INCLUDING ALL SHORING 

AND BRACING REQUIRED TO RESIST REQUIRED VERTICAL AND 

LATERAL FORCES.

4) ALL ARCHITECTURAL FLOOR PLAN DIMENSIONS ARE FROM FACE 

OF CONCRETE, MASONRY AND FINISHED DRYWALL.

5) MECHANICAL /ELECTRICAL CONTRACTOR SHALL SIZE AND 

GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL FORM, DOWEL AND POUR INTERIOR 

AND EXTERIOR BASES FOR MECHANICAL AND ELECTRICAL 

EQUIPMENT (3½” AT INTERIOR LOCATIONS AND 5½” AT EXTERIOR 

LOCATIONS UNLESS INDICATED OTHERWISE).  REFER TO GENERAL 

PROVISIONS OF MECHANICAL SPECIFICATIONS FOR MINIMUM SIZES.  

UNLESS INDICATED OTHERWISE, REINFORCE WITH 4”x4” –

W4.0xW4.0 WWF.

6) NO WALL FINISH OTHER THAN PAINT IS REQUIRED BEHIND 

CABINETS, CHALKBOARDS, TACKBOARDS, ETC UNLESS WALL BEHIND 

IS EXPOSED TO VIEW AND/OR WHERE NOTED OTHERWISE.

7) ALL CONC. FOR ENTIRE PROJECT REQUIRED TO ALLOW 7 DAYS 

CURE TIME PRIOR TO LOADING. 
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FACE OF BUILDING

MODULAR BLDG. 

METAL SKIRT SIDING TO 

MATCH EXISTING ON 

18GA. 3 5/8" GALV. MT'L 

STUDS @ 2'-0" OC W/ 

EXPAN. TRACK AT BASE 

TO ALLOW FOR MIN. 1" 

MOVEMENT

TREATED WOOD 

BLOCKING - ANCHOR 

INTO CONC. 

16" WIDE X 8" DEEP 

CONCRETE APRON W/ 

(2) #5 CONT. AROUND 

PERIMETER OF STUD 

WALL (TYP.)

GEOTEXTILE FABRIC

4" CRUSHED ROCK

NOTE: NOTE, EIGHT (8) 

OPENINGS SHALL BE 

FRAMED, SEVEN (7) 

FOR LOUVERS AND 

ONE (1) FOR ACCESS 

TO BELOW THE 

MODULAR CLASSROOM 

UNIT. ACCESS OPENING 

SHALL BE 24"X36". WITH 

LOUVER AND INSECT 

SCREEN.

PREFINISHED MT'L 

LOUVER 16" X 8" W/ 

INSECT SCREEN WHERE 

OCCURS

CMU ON CONC SUPPORT PAD

REF. STRUCT. FOR SIZING

EXISTING BUILDING 

STRUCTURE 

TREATED 2X SHIMS 

CONTINUOUS. 

1. EXISTING MOBILE CLASSROOM UNITS:

THE FOLLOWING NOTES PERTAIN TO ANY EXISTING MOBILE UNITS TO BE 

RELOCATED EITHER ON SITE OR FROM ANOTHER LOCAL SITE UNDER THIS 

CONTRACT.

A. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR THE 

COORDINATION OF THE RELOCATION OF ANY EXISTING MOBILE 

CLASSROOM UNITS.

B. EXISTING MOBILE CLASSROOM UNITS DESIGNATED TO BE 

RELOCATED MAY BE MOVED, AT CONTRACTOR'S OPTION AS ONE 

WHOLE UNIT OR AS TWO UNITS SEPARATED AT THE MATE LINE.

C. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE FOR STABILIZING THE 

OPEN SIDE OF SPLIT MOBILE UNITS WHILE TRANSPORTING.

D. REPLACE AND REPAIR AS NECESSARY ALL ROOF AND END CLOSURE 

PANELS REMOVED DURING TRANSPORT.

2. GRADING

A. CONTRACTOR IS REPSONIBLE FOR PROVIDING BERMS, SILT FENCES, 

STRAW BALES OR OTHER MEANS TO PREVENT EROSION FROM 

REACHING ANY PUBLIC RIGHT OF WAY. IN THE EVENT OF EROSION 

PREVENTION MEASURE ARE NOT EFFECTIVE, THE CONTRACTOR 

SHALL REMOVE ALL EROSION DEBRIS AND RESTORE THE RIGHT OF 

WAY TO ORIGINAL OR BETTER CONDITION AND SHALL 

PROVIDE ADDITIONAL MEASURES TO CONTROL EROSION. 

B. ALL DISTURBED AREAS TO BE SODDED.

C. SPOT ELEVATIONS GIVEN IN LAWN AREAS ARE TO THE TOP OF THE 

SOD MAT GRADING. THE GRADING CONTRACTOR SHALL ALLOW FOR 

INSTALLATION OF SOD MAT. 

D. GRADING SHALL BE APPROVED BY ARCHITECT PRIOR TO SODDING.

E. ALL SWALES TO BE A MINIMUM OF 3' WIDE WITH MINIMUM SLOPE OF 

2.5% AND GRADED TO PROPERLY FLOW INTO INLET THROAT.

3. SIDEWALKS & CURBS

A. CONCRETE SHALL HAVE A DESIGN STRENGTH OF 4,500 PSI & SHALL 

BE AIR ENTRAINED WITH AN AIR CONTENT OF 7%, +/- 1%.

B. ALL EXTERIOR CONCRETE WALKING SURFACES TO HAVE A LIGHT 

BROOM FINISH. 

C. SIDEWALKS SHALL HAVE 1/4" WIDE x 1" DEEP CONTRACTION 

CONTROL JOINTS PERPENDICULAR TO THE SIDEWALK & FULL WIDTH 

OF SIDEWALK AT A SPACING EQUAL TO THE WIDTH OF THE SIDEWALK 

UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED ON PLANS.

D. KEY ALL CONTRUCTION JOINTS. 

4. DEMOLITION AT SITE OF MOBILE UNIT ORIGIN:

THE FOLLOWING NOTES APPLY  FOR THE RELOCATION OF THE EXISTING 

MOBILE CLASSROOM UNIT FROM ANOTHER SCHOOL DISTRICT SITE:

A. REPAIR ALL DAMAGE TO THE SITE CAUSED BY THE RELOCATION OF 

THE EXISTING MOBILE FROM THE SITE OF ORIGIN.

B. INSTALL SOD IN ALL DAMAGED AREAS REPAIRED AFTER 

RELOCATION.

C. ALL ABANDONDED UTILITIES ARE TO BE TERMINATED PER THE ELEC. 

DRAWINGS.

D. REMOVE ALL EXISTING STRUCTURAL FOUNDATIONS ASSOCIATED WITH 

EXISTING MOBILE UNITS TO BE RELOCATED. 

5. UTILITIES

A. EXISTING UNDERGROUND UTILITY LINES ARE LOCATED FROM BEST 

AVAILABLE INFORMATION. THE EXACT LOCATION OF THESE LINES OR 

THE COMPLETENESS OF THE INFORMATION IS NOT GAURANTEED. THE 

CONTRACTOR SHALL BE RESPONSIBLE FOR LOCATING & 

PROTECTING ALL ABOVE GROUND & BELOW GROUND UTILITIES THAT 

ARE TO REMAIN OR SERVE EXSITING FACILITIES WITHIN THE PROJECT 

ARE DURING CONSTRUCTION. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTIFY 

THE OWNERS REPRESENTATIVE OF ANY UTILITIES ENCOUNTERED THAT 

ARE NOT SHOWN OR DEVIATE FROM THE LOCATION SHOWN ON THE 

DRAWINGS. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL NOTE THESE CHANGES OR 

DEVIATIONS ON THE RECORD DRAWINGS. ANY UTILITIES DAMAGED 

DURING CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE REPLACED OR REPAIRED DURING 

CONSTRUCTION SHALL BE REPLACED OR REPAIRED DURING 

CONSTRUCTION AT CONTRATORS EXPENSE. 

6. THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE PRECAST CONCRETE 

SPLASHBLOCKS AT ALL DOWNSPOUTS. 

7. EXISTING ALUMINUM STAIR, LANDING, & RAMP UNITS ARE TO BE 

RELOCATED FROM EXISTING SITE TO NEW SITE. CONTARCTOR TO 

DOCUMENT EXISTING CONDITIONS & LAYOUT MATCHING LAYOUT AT NEW 

LOCATION. RAMP TO MAINTAIN MAX 1:12 SLOPE. 

8. PAINT

GENERAL: PROVIDE POINTS & COATINGS AS SHOWN AND SPECIFIED

A. PROVIDE SURFACE PREPARATION, PRIME, INTERMEDIATE & FINISH 

COATINGS FOR INTERIOR & EXTERIOR, NEW & EXISTING SURFACES, & 

ITEMS INDICATED TO RECEIVE PAINT. 

B. QUALITY ASSURANCE:

1. APPLICAITON: PERFORMED ONLY BY SKILLED, EXPERIENCED, 

PAINTERS.

2. PROVIDE LEAD FREE PRIME & FINSIH COATINGS. ALL TOP 

COATINGS SHALL BE MOLD & MILDEW RESISTANT.

C. MAINTENANCE: FURNISH EXTRA PAINT MATERIALS FROM THE SAME 

PRODUCTION RUN AS THE MATERIALS APPLIED IN THE QUANTITIES 

DESCRIBED BELOW.  PACKAGE PAINT MATERIALS IN UNOPENED, 

FACTORY-SEALED CONTAINERS FOR STORAGE & IDENTITY WITH 

LABELS DESCRIBING CONTENTS.  DELIVER EXTRA MATERIALS TO THE 

OWNER.

1. PROVIDE ONE GALLON OF PAINT/OR WOOD STAIN OF EACH 

TYPE & COLOR REQUIRED FOR MAINTENANCE PURPOSES. 

PROVIDE ORIGINAL, UNOPENED, LABELED CONTAINERS WITH 

COLOR SAMPLES & A LIST OF PROJECT USE. 

MATERIALS

A. MANUFACTURERS:

1. SHERWIN-WILLIAMS CO.

2. PITTSBURG/PPG

3. BENJAMIN MOORE

B. PAINT MATERIALS

PRODUCTS SPECIFIED BELOW ARE BY SHERWIN WILLIAMS. PRODUCTS 

FROM THE OTHER ACCEPTABLE MANUF. LISTED SHALL BE EQUAL TO 

THE PRODUCT SPECIFIED.

EXTERIOR METALS:

PREPARATION: REMOVE ALL RUST, GREASE, ALL & FOREIGN MATERIALS. 

UNIFORMALY ROUGHEN SURFACE WITH 150-GRIT PAPER. REMOVE 

LOOSE DUST.

PRIME: (1) COAT S-W PER MANUF. RECOMMENDATION. 

FINISH: (2) COATS S-W PROINDUSTRIAL ACRYLIC COATING, SEMI-

                  GLOSS FINISH

APPLICATION: CONVENTIONAL OR HVLP (HIGH VOLUME LOW 

PRESSURE)

INTERIOR:

PREPARATION: REMOVE DUST, DIRT, LOOSE AND OTHER FOREIGN 

MATERIALS. PATCH & REPAIR CRACKS, HOLES, AND OTHER DEFECTS. 

PRIME: (1) COAT S-W PER MANUF. RECOMMENDATION. 

FINISH: (2) COATS S-W PROINDUSTRIAL ACRYLIC COATING, EGG-

SHELL FINISH

APPLICATION: BRUSH & 1/2" NAP ROLLER
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ARCHITECTURAL FLOOR PLAN &

REFLECTED CEILING PLAN
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REV 1: OCTOBER 2, 2019

1/8" = 1'-0"3
REFLECTED CEILING PLAN

1/8" = 1'-0"2
FLOOR PLAN

GENERAL DEMOLITION NOTES

ARCHITECTURAL PLAN NOTES REFLECTED CEILING PLAN NOTES

1 1/2" = 1'-0"4
PERIMETER CLOSURE DTL

1 1/2" = 1'-0"6
CROSS SECTION THROUGH RAMP

1/8" = 1'-0"1
DEMO PLAN

DEMOLITION PLAN NOTES

GENERAL NOTES

PLAN NORTH 

NORTH 
PLAN NORTH 

NORTH 
PLAN NORTH 

NORTH 

1 1/2" = 1'-0"5
MODULAR BUIDING-SKIRTS PERIMETER CLOSURE DTL

NOTES

REV
1



EXISTING DOWNSPOUTS TO BE 

REMOVED AND REINSTALLED 

AFTER RELOCATION. TRIM AS 

NECESSARY.

EXISTING PAC-VAN MOBILE CLASSROOM

DEMO EXISTING BUILDING 

SKIRTS. NEW MODULAR 

BUILDING SKIRTS. TO BE 

INSTALLED AFTER 

RELOCATION.

EXISTING MECHANICAL

REF. MECH.

EXISTING MECHANICAL

REF. MECH.

EXISTING ELECTRICAL

REF. ELEC.

2
'-
10

"
8
'-
6
 3

/
4
"

3
'-
6
"

NOTE:  COLOR OF METAL 

ROOF PANELS, WALL PANELS 

AND SKIRT TO BE ALMOND.  

COLOR OF THE STAIR, 

RAMPS AND HANDRAILS ARE 

TO BE GALVALUME PLUS. 

6" H. X 10" LONG DARK 

BRONZE VENTS

4" DIA. PVE 

PLUMBING VENT

EXISTING DOWNSPOUTS TO BE 

REMOVED AND REINSTALLED 

AFTER RELOCATION. TRIM AS 

NECESSARY.

DEMO EXISTING BUILDING 

SKIRTS. NEW MODULAR BUILDING 

SKIRTS. TO BE INSTALLED 

AFTER RELOCATION.

EXISTING PAC-VAN MOBILE 

CLASSROOM

EXISTING MECHANICAL

REF. MECH.

EXISTING MECHANICAL

REF. MECH.

METAL LOUVER

EXISTING REDD TEAM

ALUMINUM RAMPS, PLATFORMS 

AND STAIR TO BE REMOVED 

AND SALVAGED. REINSTALL 

AT NEW SITE USING EXISTING 

HARDWARE & MATCHING 

EXISTING LAYOUT.

3
'-
6
"

8
'-
6
 3

/
4
"

2
'-
10

"

NOTE:  COLOR OF METAL 

ROOF PANELS, WALL PANELS 

AND SKIRT TO BE ALMOND.  

COLOR OF THE STAIR, 

RAMPS AND HANDRAILS ARE 

TO BE GALVALUME PLUS. 

EXISTING MECHANICAL
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Ex. Norway Spruce

 Ex. Blue Spruce

Ex. Ninebark Out of
Construction Zone

Ex. Purple Plum

Ex. 14' Col. White Pine

Ex. 6" Swamp White Oak

Ex. 6" Swamp White Oak

Ex. Globe Yews Out of
Construction Zone

Ex. 6" Swamp White Oak

Ex. 5" Hedge Maple

Ex. 5" Hedge Maple

Ex. 5" Hedge Maple

Ex. Fescue Turf

Ex. Fescue Turf

Ex. Fescue Turf

Ex. Fescue Turf

Ex. Sweetbay Magnolia (Out
of Construction Zone)

Ex. Red Maple

Ex. Purple SmokeTree (Out of
Construction Zone)

NEW 2 Canaerti Juniper

NEW 1 Red Sunset Maple

NEW 1 Norway Spruce

NEW 1 Crimson Pointe Purple Plum

NEW 1 Colorado Blue Spruce

NEW 3 Paperbark Maple

DRIVEWAY

DRIVEWAY

DRIVEWAY

DRIVEWAY

Removed for Construction

Removed for Construction

Removed for Construction

Removed for Construction

LEAWOOD
ELEMENTARY

SCHOOL

Fescue Sod

Fescue Sod

Fescue Sod

Fescue Sod

Fesc
ue

 So
d

LIMITS OF CONSTRUCTION

Ex. 3) Paperbark Maple
Removed for Construction

Koreanspice Viburnum
Must be 24" Tall @ Planting

10 Densiformis Yew
Must be 24" Tall @ Planting

8 Little Lime Hydrangea
Must be 24" Tall @ Planting

10 Densiformis Yew
Must be 24" Tall @ Planting

1 Koreanspice Viburnum
Must be 24" Tall @ Planting

Ex. Canaerti Juniper
Removed for Construction

Ex. Serviceberry
Removed for Construction

Ex. Canaerti Juniper
Removed for Construction

Ex. Red Maple
Removed for Construction

Ex. Dwf. Korean Lilac Shrub
Removed for Construction

NEW 1 Autumn Brilliance Serviceberry

NEW 1 Red Sunset Maple

Ex. 5" Hedge Maple

Ex. 6'' Norway Maple

Ex. 10' Col. White Pine

? ? ? ? ????
? ? ? ? ????

? ? ? ??
? ? ? ? ???

? ? ? ? ??
? ? ? ??

? ? ? ???
? ? ? ? ??????

? ? ? ? ??????

? ? ???????
? ? ? ? ???????

? ? ? ? ???????

????
??????

? ???????
? ? ???????

? ? ??????
? ? ? ??????

? ? ?????
? ? ? ? ???????

? ? ? ? ???????
? ? ? ? ???????

PLANT SCHEDULE
Quantity Symbol Scientific Name Common Name Planting Size

8 Hydrangea paniculata 'Little Lime' Little Lime Hydrangea # 5 Pot (24" Tall @ Planting)

1 Amelanchier arborea 'Autumn Brilliance' Autumn Brilliance Serviceberry 1 1/2"-Cal

1 Picea abies Norway Spruce 6-7'
1 Picea pungens 'Glauca' Colorado Blue Spruce 6-7'
2 Juniperus virginiana 'Canaertii' Canaerti Juniper 6-7'

1 Prunus cerasifera 'Crimson Pointe' Crimson Pointe Purple Plum 1 1/2"-Cal

20 Taxus media 'Densiformis' Densiformis Yew 24-30" B&B (24" Tall @ Planting)
2 Viburnum carlesi Koreanspice Viburnum 3-4'

3 Acer griseum Paperbark Maple 2 1/2"-Cal
2 Acer rubrum 'Red Sunset' Red Sunset Maple 2 1/2"-Cal

NOTES
1.  ALL PLANTED TREES WILL BE CALIPERED BY THE LANDSCAPE
ARCHITECT.  UNDERSIZED TREES WILL BE REJECTED.  TREES WILL BE
CALIPERED AT 4" ABOVE GROUND LEVEL, AS PER ANSI Z60.1-2004 (ANLA
STANDARD FOR NURSERY STOCK).
2.  ANY CHANGE TO THE APPROVED LANDSCAPE PLAN SHALL REQUIRE
THE WRITTEN APPROVAL OF BOTH THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT AND THE
CITY OF LEAWOOD PRIOR TO INSTALLATION.
3.  A LETTER, SIGNED AND SEALED BY THE LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT
SHALL BE REQUIRED, PRIOR TO FINAL OCCUPANCY STATING THAT THE
LANDSCAPE HAS BEEN INSTALLED ACCORDING TO THE APPROVED
DRAWINGS, AND THAT ALL PLANT MATERIASL MEET ANSI CODE Z 60.1,
STANDARDS FOR NURSERY STOCK.
4.  IN THE EVENT OF WORK IN OR ON THE JCW SANITARY MAIN, ANY
TREES OR PLANTINGS PLACED WITHIN THE SEWER EASEMENT MAY BE
REMOVED WITHOUT REPLACEMENT OR COMPENSATION.
5.  WHERE MASSES OF SHRUBS ARE PLACED TOGETHER, SUCH MASS BEDS
SHOULD BE MULCHED TO EASE IN MAINTENANCE AND EDGED
ACCORDING TO THE WRITTEN SPECIFICATIONS, IF NOT CALLED OUT ON
DRAWING SPECIFICALLY.
6.  MULCH ANY FREESTANDING TREES OR SHRUBS NOT CONTAINED IN A
BED INDIVIDUALLY WITH JAVA BROWN DYED HARDWOOD MULCH.
7  ALL AREAS NOT DESIGNATED AS PLANTING BEDS MUST BE SODDED,
UNLESS SPECIFICALLY CALLED OUT AS "TO BE SEEDED".
8. LEAWOOD REQUIRES SHRUBS BE A MINIMUM OF 24" IN HEIGHT AT TIME
OF PLANTING, EVEN THOUGH THIS DOES NOT ADHERE TO AMERICAN
NURSERY STANDARDS.  SHRUBS SMALLER THAN 2' TALL WILL BE
REJECTED.
9. ALL UTILITIES MUST BE LOCATED PRIOR TO ANY PLANTING OR
GRADING.  NOTIFY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT IMMEDIATELY IF
DISCREPANCIES OCCUR.
10. ALL LANDSCAPING SHALL CONFORM TO LOCAL CODES; CONTRACTOR
IS RESPONSIBLE FOR ALL FEES AND PERMITS TO MEET GOVERNING
REGULATIONS.

LEAWOOD ELEMENTARY MOBILE CLASSROOM IMPACTED EXISTING TREES TO BE REMOVED *

Quantity Symbol Scientific Name Common Name Existing Size

1 Picea abies Norway Spruce 18'

1 Picea pungens Colorado Blue Spruce 14'

1 Acer rubrum 'Red Sunset' Red Maple 3.5" Cal. 

1 8" Cal.

3 Acer griseum Paperbark Maple 2" Cal..

1 Amelanchier Spp. Serviceberry 3.5" Cal.

2 Juniperus virginiana 'Canaerti' Canaerti Juniper 7-8'

Shade Trees

Ornamental Trees

Evergreen Trees

*DOES NOT INCLUDE LANDSCAPE SHRUBS

Acer rubrum 'Red Sunset' Red Maple 

1 Prunus cerasifera 'Crimson Pointe' Crimson Pointe Plum 8-10'

NOTE;  NONE OF THE TREES TO BE REMOVED AT 12" CALIPER OR LARGER

Turf Side Planting Bed Side
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? ? ? ? ???
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RICHARD CLAYTON BARRETT

7128 Nall Avenue

Fax 913.362.1171

Overland Park, KS., 66208

Phone 913.362.1200

Richard Clayton Barrett, ASLA, LLC
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AXCS / AXCL  
AXCENT

14-123W

LED

 
APPLICATIONS:

WALL / SURFACE / INVERTED
FLOODLIGHTING / PATHWAY /

SITE LIGHTING

Lumark

SPECIFICATION FEATURES

Construction
Low-profile LED design with 
rugged die-cast aluminum 
housing. Matching housing styles 
incorporate both a full cutoff and 
refractive lens design. External fin 
design on the back of the fixture 
extracts heat from the surface 
resulting in a thermally optimize 
design for longer luminaire life. 
One-piece silicone gasket seals 
the fixture, keeping out moisture 
and dusts in compliance with IP66 
rating. The fixture is 3G vibration 
rated (ANSI C136.31) and 
UL/cUL listed ensuring reliability 
and durability in wall mount 
applications.

Optical
Silicone-sealed optical LED 
chamber incorporates a custom 
engineered reflector providing 
high-efficiency illumination. 
Refractive lens models incorporate 
a molded lens assembly designed 
for maximum forward throw. 
Optional glare free lens is available 
for visual comfort at reduced 
lumen values. Available in Type IV 
distribution with lumen packages 
ranging from 1,800 to 17,300 
nominal lumens. Light engine 
configurations consist of 	
high-efficiency, discrete LEDs 
mounted to metal-core circuit 
boards to maximize heat 

dissipation and promote long 
life. Offered in standard 4000K 
(+/- 275K) CCT and minimum 70 
CRI. Optional 5000K CCT / 70CRI 
min and 3000K / 80CRI min are 
available.

Electrical
LED driver is mounted to the 
die-cast aluminum housing for 
optimal heat sinking. Integral LED 
electronic driver incorporates 6kV 
surge protection. Class 1 electronic 
drivers have a power factor >90% 
and THD<20%. 120-277V 50/60Hz 
standard operation with optional 
347V 60Hz or 480V 60Hz options 
available. 480V is compatible for 
use with 480V Wye systems only. 
0-10V dimming driver is standard 
with leads external to the fixture to 
accommodate controls capability 
such a dimming and occupancy. 
10kV/10kA surge protection option 
is available.

Mounting
Steel wedge mounting plate fits 
directly to 4" standard j-box or 
directly to wall with the "Hook-
N-Lock" mechanism for quick 
installation. Secure with two 
captive, corrosion resistant, 
stainless steel set screws, which 
are concealed but accessible 
from bottom of fixture. Optional 
floodlight kits available in slipfitter, 

knuckle and trunnion mount 
configurations. Optional pole 
mount configuration provides a 
quick-mount solution to round and 
square poles. The easy installation 
arm accommodates multiple drill 
patterns ranging from 1-1/2" to 
4-7/8". 

Emergency Egress
Optional integral cold weather 
battery emergency egress includes 
emergency operation test switch, 
an AC-ON indicator light and a 
premium, maintenance-free 
battery pack. The separate 
emergency lighting LEDs are wired 
to provided redundant emergency 
lighting. Listed to UL Standard 924, 
Emergency Lighting.

Finish
The Axcent is protected with five 
state super TGIC polyester powder 
coat paint in carbon bronze and 
five other color finishes. Super 
TGIC power coat paint finishes 
withstand extreme climate 
conditions while providing optimal 
color and gloss retention of the 
installed life.

Warranty
Five-year warranty.

TD514036EN
August 28, 2019 5:03 PM

The Lumark Axcent LED wall mount luminaire provides a flush-mounted, 
architectural design with high performing, energy-efficient illumination 
resulting in up to 95% energy and maintenance savings over traditional 
sources. The die-cast aluminum construction along with stainless steel 
hardware, gasketed housing, and sealed optical compartment make 
the Axcent impervious to contaminants. The Axcent replaces 70W to 
450W metal halide equivalents making it ideal for pathway illumination, 
building entrances, vehicle ramps, schools, tunnels, stairways, loading 
docks and floodlighting applications.

DESCRIPTION

C E R T I F I C A T I O N  D A T A
3G Vibration Rated
DesignLights Consortium® Qualified*
FCC Class A
IP66 Rated
ISO9001, UL/cUL Wet Location Listed
LM79/LM80 Compliant
ROHS Compliant
Title 24 Compliant
UL924 Listed (CBP Models)

T E C H N I C A L  D A T A
-40°C Minimum Ambient Temperature
+40°C Maximum Ambient Temperature
External Supply Wiring 90°C Minimum

S H I P P I N G  D A T A :
Approximate Net Weight:
Small fixture=5 lbs. [2.36 kgs.] 
Small with sensor or CBP=10 lbs. [4.40 kgs.]
Large fixture=12 lbs. [5.45 kgs.]
Large with sensor or CBP=17 lbs. [7.73 kgs.]
Large with sensor & CBP=21 lbs. [9.54 kgs.]

DIMENSIONS

S

YSTEMS

C

E R T I F I E

D

Catalog # Type

Date

Project

Comments

Prepared by

*www.designlights.org

Full Cutoff Refractive Lens Deep Back Housing

A A

B B C DC

Dimensional Data

AXCS Small AXCL Large

A 8" [202mm] 11-1/2" [292mm]

B 7-1/2" [190mm] 10-3/4" [273mm]

C 3-5/8" [94mm] 4-7/8" [124mm]

D 6-1/8" [155mm] 7-1/8" [181mm]

scott.jensen
Rectangle



Catalog #

Project

Comments

Prepared by

Type

Date

S P E C I F I C AT I O N  F E AT U R E S

D E S C R I P T I O N

The Sure-Lites Wet location Emergency Light (SELW) is designed to 
reduce total egress system cost and maintenance in a wet location 
environment as well as improve system reliability. Key features 
include long life LED’s, proprietary rotatable accuLED optics, a 
nickel cadmium battery as well as the Eagle Eye self-diagnostics 
option. The SELW is UL924 wet location code compliant listed with 
a standard 0 °C to 40 °C temperature rating or a -20 °C to 55 °C 
wide temperature option. The SELW’s easy hang feature reduces 
installation time and cost.

ORDERING INFORMATION

SAMPLE NUMBER: SELW25BZ

Series Spacing Battery Color Self Diagnostics Catalog

SELW=Wet location 25=25 ft. _=NC _=Silver
BZ=Bronze
BK=Black
WH=White

Not Available SELW25
SELW25BZ
SELW25BK
SELW25WH

Electrica l 
-	Dual Voltage Input 		
	 120/277 VAC, 60Hz
-	Brownout circuit
-	Low voltage disconnect
-	Overload / Short Circuit 		
	 protection
-	4.8V Battery back-up
-	1.4W AccuLED optics
 
Envi ronmenta l
-	Outdoor rated
-	SELW: 0 °C to 40 °C 
   (32 °F to 104 °F)
-	SELWT: -20 °C to 55 °C  
   (-4 °F to 131 °F)

 

Housing Construct ion 
-	Components injection molded, 	
	 color stable, high impact 		
	 thermoplastic
-	White, black, silver, or bronze 	
	 textured finish
-	Snap-fit construction to  		
	 facilitate fast installation
-	Suitable for wall mount 		
	 applications
-	Universal J-box mounting 		
	 pattern
-	Keyhole mounting slots
-	Aesthetically designed with a 	
	 thin profile
-	Sealed and gasketed for Wet 	
	 Location use

Battery 
-	Sealed Nickel Cadmium
-	Full Recharge Time, 		
	 24 hours (max.)
  
Warranty  
- Five-year warranty

Code Compl iance 
-	UL924 Wet Location Listed
-	Life Safety NFPA 101
-	NEC/OSHA
-	Most State & Local Codes
-	California Energy Code

TD505012EN
December 6, 2017

7-7/8”
[200 mm]

7-15/16”
[202 mm]

2-3/16”
[56 mm]

Emergency Light
SELW

LED Emergency Light

Wet Location

AccuLED Optic

Eagle Eye Self Diagnostics

Sure-Lites

White

Black

Bronze

Silver

operating
temperature
range

Series Spacing Battery Color Self Diagnostics Catalog

SELW=Wet location 29=29 ft. _=NC _=Silver
BZ=Bronze
BK=Black
WH=White

SD=self diagnostic SELW29SD
SELW29BZSD
SELW29BKSD
SELW29WHSD

Series Spacing Battery Color Self Diagnostics Catalog

SELWT=Wet location, wide 
temperature

29=29 ft. _=NC _=Silver
BZ=Bronze
BK=Black
WH=White

SD=self diagnostic SELWT29SD
SELWT29BZSD
SELWT29BKSD
SELWT29WHSD

scott.jensen
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PermaCoat®
Color Chain Link Fence

University of North Carolina
Greensboro, NC

www.ameristarfence.com

32 31 00

for Architects & Specifiers

& TransPort™

Chain Link Gates

Maintenance-Free PermaCoat®  Finish
Over Galvanized High Strength Steel



www.ameristarfence.com

Post CapLine Post Cap

Tension Bar Corner/En
Post

Tension Band

Fabric

Concrete

Fabric Selvage

Fabric Selvage

Fabric

Fabric Tie
Top Rail

MAX.

Line Post

•  Architectural Binder
	 The adjacent PermaCoat® series drawing is one of several
	 shop drawings contained in Ameristar’s Architectural Binder.
	 Available upon request.

•  Internet Website
	 The Ameristar® website (http://www.ameristarfence.com) 
	 enables the user to browse the entire Ameristar® product line.
	 The site is complete with photos, drawings, specifications and
	 installation procedures.

DETAILED PRODUCT DATA
Ameristar’s electronic media enable architects and specifiers to simply download specification information
directly into the appropriate section of their CSI-formatted project specifications; they also enable the direct down-
loading of product drawings onto project blueprints.

Ameristar® was chartered several years ago to provide specialty fence products that were more 
affordable but did not compromise the quality level demanded by specifiers and consumers.  This 
could be accomplished only by complete reformation of the way fence products were being manu-
factured.  Product design was approached from many new perspectives:  maximizing high-volume
productivity; increasing strength and durability; promoting ease of installation; ensuring an environmentally 
friendly workplace; and enhancing aesthetic appearance.  A new plant was designed and built to house 
state-of-the-art roll-forming, metal processing and powder coating equipment.  The result (shown in the 
photo above) has boosted Ameristar to its current position as the manufacturing leader in specialty fence 
production.

AMERISTAR®

Page 2

The Company Behind The Product

Ameristar Fence Products - Tulsa, OK



32 31 00

Page 3

COLORS

Black Green Brown

FRAMEWORK

The fence framework was designed and developed to answer the need for a more 
durable, attractive and affordable framing product.  It is produced from high yield 
strength galvanized steel, using state-of-the-art mill forming and in-line weld-
ing techniques.  It is coated with the PermaCoat® powder coating system, with 
its double layer of protection (actually powder coated twice).  The base coat is a 
epoxy moisture barrier that is thermally fused to the galvanized substrate and is 
known for its outstanding corrosion resistance.  The finish coat is a thermo-setting 
TGIC “no-mar” polyester with enhanced UV resistance to maintain a beautiful color 
finish for a lifetime of maintenance-free enjoyment.

PERMACOAT®

Any truly great product must have a defining feature that sets it apart from all others;  
PermaCoat’s double coating system, results in a coating durability and life superior to 
all other coated chain link fence systems.

Electrostatic application in the PermaCoat®

powder coating system results in coated
surfaces with unmatched performance.
The base coat of epoxy powder far sur-
passes the corrosion resisting abilities of
painted surfaces.  The “no-mar” polyester
powder top coat reduces scratches and
burnishing marks normally encountered
during shipping.

“No-Mar” Polyester Color Coat ◄

The Product Leader in Color Chain Link Fencing

Epoxy Powder Coat

◄

◄ Zinc Phosphate

Galvanized Steel
(Outside)

◄

Galvanized Steel

◄



www.ameristarfence.com
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Ameristar® is America’s premier manufacturer of color chain link fence materials .  Applying the most
extensive surface protection ever used on chain link fencing is one of the reasons our company has reached 
that achievement.

CORROSION RESISTANCE UV RESISTANCE
PermaCoat® significantly exceeds PVC and one coat polyester 
finishes in its ability to resist corrosion.  ASTM B117 test results 
below show the dramatic difference.

PermaCoat® is far superior to PVC in resistance to the harmful 
effects of UV radiation, as shown below using South Florida 
exposure tests.

ASTM B117
Salt Spray Testing* OUTDOOR ENVIRONMENT
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Galvanizing

Iron Phosphate

PVC

SUPERIOR FINISH

Conventional PVC Process

All fence parts, gates and accessories are given
complete double PermaCoat® application.

7 STAGE PRE-TREATMENT

Conventional Polyester Fence 
Systems

11 Stage PermaCoat® Double-Coating Process Conventional Polyester Process

PermaCoat® Fence System

Simultaneous cleaning and 
phosphatizing significantly
decreases the effectiveness
of both treatments.

CONVENTIONAL
POLYESTER
(ONE COAT)

CONVENTIONAL
POLY-VINYL CHLORIDE

(ONE COAT)

Curing is by a melt and quench process 
wherein the PVC material solidifies against 
the base metal surface.  Adhesion is 
suspect and can vary greatly with small 
ambient changes.

Galvanizing

 Iron Phosphate  

Polyester

Zinc compounds are used in the phosphatizing process because they add a significant amount of sacrificial cathodic protection.  
The zinc is much more active than steel; therefore, the zinc must oxidize before the steel is free to corrode.  Iron phosphate, 
by contrast, provides no sacrificial cathodic advantage when applied to steel.

The epoxy in the first of Ameristar’s two coating applications provides an effective barrier to moisture and humidity; acting 
as a primer (3 mils thick) between the galvanized substrate and the polyester finish coat.

PRE-TREATMENT/COATING PROCESS

DOUBLE COATING & CURING

Galvanizing

 Zinc Phosphate  

          Epoxy 

 No-Mar Polyester

Double
Coating

(5 to 6 Mils.)

Epoxy
Powder
Booth

Curing
Oven

Polyester
Powder
Booth

Finish
Curing
Oven

Fixidine
Rinse

Alkaline
Wash

Clear
Water
Rinse

Non
Chromate

Seal

Clear
Water
Rinse

Drying
Oven

Zinc
Phosphate Drying

Oven
Non

Chromate
Seal

Clear
Water
Rinse

Clean & 
Phosphate

Polyester
Powder
Booth

Finish
Curing
Oven

PROTECTIVE APPLICATIONS

Water
Rinse

Acid
Wash

Clear
Water
Rinse

Forced
Air Day

Preheat
Oven

Iron
Phosphate

Fluidized
Powder Bed Dip

Air
Cool

Cold Water
Quench

  3,500 Hrs.……………………………………1,200 Hrs.…………………………………500 Hrs.
SALT SPRAY RESISTANCE (ASTM B117)

Conventional PVC Fence Systems

1

2

1 1

1

2

AMERISTAR®  
PERMACOAT®

(DOUBLE COATED)



October 10, 2019 
 
 
 
Meeting Minutes: Leawood Elementary School–Interact Meeting – Case No. 101-19 
Leawood Elementary School, Commons 
123rd Street, Leawood, Kansas 
Time: October 9, 2019 – 7:00pm to 7:40pm 

 

 
Attendees: 
Kent Anderson, BV School District 
Mark Franzen, HTK 
Brad Kiehl, HTK 
David Wood, Kaw Valley Engineers 
 
Minutes: 
Blue Valley School District sent out letters of notifications to residence within 500 
feet of Leewood Elementary School. The letters stated notice of an interact 
meeting to be held on October 9, 2019 at 7pm, located at Leawood Elementary 
School. 
 
Our team and the district arrived at approximately 6:45pm. 
At 7:10pm no attendees were present for the meeting.  Our team stayed until 
7:40pm at which time we decided to leave due to no attendance. 
 
During the time of notification, HTK Architects received one phone call from a 
resident who stated she had no issues with the proposed modular building being 
added to the site, but the meeting time was not convenient for her. 
 
 
 
 
The meeting notes are a representation of the information that was discussed and noted by the author in no particular 

order.  Please review and submit any corrections / modifications to the author within 5 business days. 

Regards, 
HTK Architects 
 
 
Bradley R. Kiehl, AIA, LEED AP, ALEP 
Director | Architect 
 
CC: Kent Anderson, BVSD 
 Mark Franzen, HTK Architects 



October 1, 2019 
 
 
Ricky Sanchez 
Staff Planner 
City of Leawood Community Development 
4800 Town Center Drive 
Leawood, KS 66211 

 
 
RE: Case 101-19 Leawood Elementary Modular Classroom (Review Comments 2 and 10) 
 Leawood Elementary School, HTK #1907.04 

 
 
Dear Ricky: 
 
Please allow this letter to serve as our response on behalf of the district for the legal entity who the 
special us permit will be made out to and the amount of time the special use permit is being requested. 
This is in response to item numbers 2 and 10 made in the review letter issued by the City of Leawood for 
the Blue Valley Leawood Elementary School Modular Placement Project (dated September 24, 2019).  
 
The legal entity is as follows:  

Unified School District 229 
15020 Metcalf Ave 
Overland Park, KS 66223 

Phone: 913-239-4025 
Contact: Kent Anderson 
Email: kanderson@bluevalleyk12.org 

 
 
Special Use Permit (SUP) Time Frame and Modular Use: 
The SUP request is for five (5) years. The district’s enrollment projections indicate the district will need 
additional space during this five-year timeframe.  The district is requesting they reserve an option to 
request an extension if enrollment trends continue to increase. 
 
The modular addition will contain 2 classrooms just outside the educational wing of the elementary 
school. The classrooms will be used for non-homeroom educational programming (such as intervention 
programs, special needs education and other special programs) so that grade-level classrooms 
(homeroom spaces) are opened back up in the building. 
 
Please do not hesitate to call me if you have any questions.  Again, we appreciate this opportunity to 
review our project with the City of Leawood. 
 
Sincerely, 
HTK Architects 
 
 
Bradley R. Kiehl, AIA, LEED AP, ALEP 
Director | Architect      
 
PC: File 
 Kent Anderson, USD 229 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

September 17, 2019                            C19D0304 

 

 

Mr. Kent Andersen 

Blue Valley School District  

15020 Metcalf Avenue 

Overland Park, Kansas 66223 

 

RE: STORM WATER MANGEMENT 

LEAWOOD ELEMENTARY SCHOOL  

LEAWOOD, KANSAS 

 

Dear Mr. Andersen: 

 

Kaw Valley Engineering, Inc. has completed a review of the stormwater management 

implications associated with the construction of the Mobile Classroom on the northeast side of 

Leawood Elementary School in Leawood, Kansas.  

 

The City of Leawood, Kansas has adopted storm water management design criteria titled Section 

5600 (Storm Drainage Systems and Facilities) which shall be used for stormwater planning and 

design.  

 

The proposed project will require a net increase in impervious surface on the site of 

approximately 2,024 SF. The increase in impervious area consists of a 1,712 SF mobile 

classroom and 312 SF of sidewalk/raised ramp. The mobile classroom will be elevated off the 

ground and have clean gravel underneath to allow for infiltration. Stormwater from the mobile 

classroom will discharge through downspouts onto the existing grass surrounding the building 

and will flow by overland flow to an existing curb inlet to the east. The curb inlet enters an 

underground storm system and appears to discharge into the existing detention basin on site. The 

increase in impervious area is expected to result in an additional 0.36 cfs of runoff in the 100-

year storm event. There are currently no known issues of flooding associated with the site. It can 

be assumed that the storm sewer system and basin will have capacity to handle this minor 

increase in runoff from the proposed project. Refer to attached plans for proposed improvements.   

 

APWA 5600 states the following exception to applicability regarding Development: 

 

5601.3, B.2. 

 

“Construction of any buildings, structures, and/or appurtenant service roads, 

drives, and walks on a site having previously provided stormwater management, 



\\VMLX-FILE\Projects\C19_0304\DSN\Storm\20190917 LES Mobile Classroom Stormwater Compliance Letter.docx



1 

City of Leawood Planning Commission Staff Report 
 
MEETING DATE:    October 22, 2019 
REPORT WRITTEN:   October 10, 2019 
 

TOWN CENTER PLAZA – LOT 4-A TOWN CENTER PLAZA THIRD PLAT – REQUEST FOR 
APPROVAL OF A REVISED FINAL PLAT - Located north of 119th Street and east of Nall Avenue - 
Case 116-19 

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:   
Staff recommends approval of Case 116-19, Town Center Plaza – Lot 4-A Town Center Plaza Third Plat, 
with the stipulations stated in the staff report. 
 
APPLICANT:  

 The applicant is J.D. Christie with OTB Town Center LLC.   

 The property is owned by OTB Town Center, LLC. 

 The developer is Tara Smiley with Drake Development, LLC. 

 The engineer is Robby Steffens with Olsson Associates. 

 The architect is Michael Hampton with Schwerdt Design Group, Inc. 

 The landscape architect is Brad Sonner with Olsson Associates.  
 
REQUEST:  

 The applicant is requesting approval of a Revised Final Plat for lot 4-A of Town Center Third Plat 
within Town Center Plaza to allow a deviation to the interior setback from 10’ to 7’. 

 
ZONING: 

 The property is currently zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail). 
 
COMPREHENSIVE PLAN:  

 The Comprehensive Plan designates this property as Retail. 
 
SURROUNDING ZONING:   

 North To the north of Town Center Plaza is 117th Street and Town Center Drive.  Across 
117th Street is Park Place, a mixed use development, zoned MXD (Mixed Use 
Development District). 

 South To the south of the property, across 119th Street, is an apartment complex zoned 
RP-3 (Planned Garden Apartment District), a nursing care facility zoned R-1 
(Planned Single Family Residential District), and Hawthorne Plaza shopping center 
zoned CP-2 (Planned General Business District), all within the City of Overland 
Park. 

 East To the east of the property is Roe Avenue and Camelot Court shopping center 
zoned SD-CR (Planned General Retail District). 

 West To the west of the property, across Nall Avenue, is the Sprint Campus zoned CP-O 
(Planned Office Building District) within the City of Overland Park. 
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LOCATION: 

 
 
HISTORY:   

 The Governing Body approved a Preliminary Plan, Final Plan and Final Plat for this site on November 
19, 2019.  

 The plan and plat was approved allowing for two lots to be created from an existing lot with a building 
on each lot. Lot 4-A, the western lot was approved for a 5,725 Sq. Ft. multi-tenant building. Lot 4-B, 
the eastern lot was approved for a 3,638 Sq. Ft. restaurant building. 

 Each building since the approval has been constructed and are operational.  However, the multi-
tenant building on Lot 4-A had to be constructed 7’ from the interior property line along the east side 
of the lot, rather than 10’ to ensure that sidewalks were of sufficient width along the east side of the 
building.  A deviation to interior setbacks is provided for in the Leawood Development Ordinance, but 
was not originally requested as the need for the deviation was the result of an adjustment at the time 
of Building Permit.  The applicant is now requesting a deviation to the interior setback along the east 
property line to allow a 7’ setback rather than a 10’ setback.  

 
BULK REGULATIONS: 

 The following table outlines the required and provided regulations for the project: 

Criteria Required Provided Compliance 
Exterior Structure Setback 40’ 56’ 5” Complies 
Interior Structure Setback 10’ 7’ Deviation Requested 
Exterior Parking Setback 25’ 25’ Complies 
Interior Parking Setback  10’ 10’ Complies 
Open Space 30% 30% Complies 
Maximum Floor Area Ratio (F.A.R.) 0.25* 0.22* Complies 
Height Limit 50’ 23’ 6” Complies 

*Overall Town Center Plaza Development 
 
FINAL PLAT: 

 The plat for the Town Center Plaza Third Plat will remain the same as approved and recorded, but 
the approval of the deviation to the interior setback will be recorded with Johnson County.  

 The Town Center Plaza Third Plat contains lots 4-A (41,399 Sq. Ft.) and 4-B (30,032 Sq. Ft.). 
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 A 10’ Sanitary Easement is located along the northern common property line. 

 A 40’ Water Easement is located along the eastern property line of Lot 4-B, 20’ of which is located on 
the lot. 

 Areas for a Traffic Signal Easement are located in the southeast corner of Lot 4-B. 
 

DEVIATIONS: 

 The applicant is requesting the following deviation from the Leawood Development Ordinance: 
o Interior Side Yard Setbacks: 

 Section 16-2-6.3 (D) SD-CR (Planned General Retail): Bulk regulation requires that the 
interior side yard setback be a minimum of 10’ for structures. However, Section 16-3-
9(A)(5)(c) provides a deviation of buildings from interior setbacks to be reduced to zero 
when the City approves adequate open space for the project and between buildings.  
The project has sufficient compensating open space for the deviation and still meets the 
required open space of 30% for the lot. 

 The building meets all Building Codes, and has made the eastern wall a fire wall.   
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve Case 116-19, Town Center Plaza - Lot 4-A, 
request for approval of a revised final plat with the following stipulations: 
1. This application is limited to the approval of a deviation to allow Lot 4-A of Town Center Third Plat to 

have a 7’ interior property line setback from the east property line.   
2. The Resolution approving this deviation for Lot 4-A of Town Center Plaza Third Plat shall be recorded 

with Johnson County, Kansas. 
3. In addition to the stipulations listed herein, the developer/property owner agrees to abide by all 

ordinances of the Leawood Development Ordinance, unless a deviation has been granted, and to 
execute a statement acknowledging in writing that they agree to stipulations one through 3. 

 
 





Memo 
To:    City of Leawood Planning Commission 

From:    Mark A. Klein, Planning Official 

CC:    Richard Coleman, Director of Community Development 

Date of Meeting: October 22, 2019 

Date of Memo:  October 18, 2019 

Re: Case 39-19, Leawood Development Ordinance Amendment to Section 16-2-10.3 
Materials and Colors   **PUBLIC HEARING** 

Section 16-2-10.3 of the Leawood Development Ordinance provides a list of building materials that are permitted 
and prohibited within the City of Leawood.  These lists are not all inclusive, but provide guidance to applicants 
regarding which building materials are allowed within the City, and which are not. The attached Leawood 
Development Ordinance amendment proposes the following changes. 

 Clarifies the list of permitted and prohibited materials is not all inclusive, but provides flexibility for new materials 
to enter the market, and for the quality and durability of materials to be vetted over time. 

 

 Adds clarification to the ordinance by being more specific regarding building materials, such as clarifying that 
stone refers to natural stone, and brick refers to clay-fired brick, or stating if the material may only be used for 
detailing or used on single family homes.   
 

 Adds additional building materials to the list of permitted materials within the City of Leawood.  The materials 
being added include: architectural cast stone (meeting all Architectural Cast Stone Institute standards), zinc, 
stainless steel, composite panels, corrugated metal for detailing only, and spandrel glass for detailing and 
screening only. 
 

 Adds manufactured stone (excluding architectural cast stone meeting all Architectural Cast Stone Institute 
standards) except for use on single family residential and for detailing on commercial buildings, to the list of 
prohibited materials.   

 
With the exception of being used on single-family dwellings, the amendment proposes to add manufactured stone 
for exterior use to the list of Prohibited Building Materials found in Section 16-2-10.3 (B) of the Leawood 
Development Ordinance. Manufactured stone products do not have the same level of durability as natural stone 
products and therefore is not a desirable building material for the City of Leawood.  Since the time that it has started 
to be utilized within the City of Leawood in approximately 2004, the City has noticed numerous instances where 
manufactured stone has become detached from the façade of the building, broken, and faded. 

City of Leawood  

Planning Services 



Only architectural cast stone that meets all standards of the Architectural Cast Stone Institute will be permitted to be 
used, and may only be used for trim or accents on a building.   Although Cast Stone is a manufactured product, 
Architectural Cast Stone meeting the requirements of the Architectural Cast Stone Institute is a refined architectural 
concrete building unit that offers durable physical properties.  For this reason it is proposed to be added to the list of 
permitted building materials and is being exempted from the prohibition of other manufactured stone.   
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16-2-10.3 Materials and Colors 

To create a harmonious and coherent image for each development, building designs shall pay 

close attention to choice of materials and colors.  Building construction shall be of high quality and 

durable materials.  Equally valued materials and colors shall wrap all exposed elevations of the 

building as a solid mass.   

A) Permitted exterior building materials include, but are not limited to, the following: 

1) Natural Stone  

2) Clay-fired Brick  

2)3) Architectural Cast Stone (meeting all Architectural Cast Stone Institute standards 

and used for detailing only) 

3)4) EIFS for detailing only 

4)5) Finished Concrete  

6) Copper  

7) Zinc 

8) Stainless Steel 

9) Composite panels including painted aluminum, zinc, natural stone, and phenolic 

wood veneer  

5)10) Corrugated metal for detailing only 

6)11) Plaster/Cementitious Stucco  

12) Clear Glass  

7)13) Spandrel glass for detailing and screening only 

8)14) Metal for Detailing and Awnings 

9)15)  Wood 

11)16)  Vinyl soffits.  Vinyl products must have an approved evaluation report in conform-

ance with the currently approved City Building Code.  Vinyl windows meeting or 

exceeding the following AAMA/NWWDA 101/1.S.2-97 Design Specifications:  All 

vinyl windows, except basement windows shall have a minimum Structural Test 

Pressure of 45.0 pounds per square foot.  All basement windows shall have a 

minimum Structural Test Pressure of 37.5 pounds per square foot.  

B) Prohibited exterior building materials (for both commercial and residential, unless other-

wise noted), but are not limited to, the following: 

1) Vinyl siding and details (including downspouts) 

2) Plastic Columns or other Ornamentation. *allowed for single family residential us-

es. 
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3) Aluminum sheet siding  

4) Exposed CMU (concrete masonry units) *allowed for other than single family resi-

dential landscape purposes 

5) Corrugated Metal. *allowed for detailing only. 

6) Reflective or Mirror Glass. *allowed for single family residential 

7) Steel sheet siding.  

7)8) Manufactured stone (excluding Architectural Cast Stone meeting all Architectural 

Cast Stone Institute standards) *allowed for commercial detailing only and single 

family residential. 

C) Roof Materials For All Buildings, Except Single-Family Residential:  

1) Intent:  The intent of the City of Leawood is to create and maintain the distinctive, 

traditional character that the single-family residences within Leawood are known 

for, while also ensuring that the roofing products used meet a high performance 

standard regarding safety and durability and to:  

a. Provide the citizens of Leawood with a choice of roofing materials while en-

suring that only quality products are used. 

b. Ensure that all roofing materials permitted within the City of Leawood meet 

minimum performance standards regarding fire, wind resistance and impact 

resistance to protect the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of Leawood. 

c. Ensure that roofing materials within the City of Leawood are aesthetically 

compatible with the existing roofs within the City and have the look of natural 

materials such as weathered cedar shakes, slate or tile, even if all other 

standards are met. 

2) Required Permits:  All roofing materials shall be permitted, installed, and inspect-

ed in accordance with the City of Leawood Development Ordinance and the cur-

rent adopted building code. 

3) Submission Requirements:  A list of approved roofing materials and associated 

permitted colors shall be available from the Planning and Development Depart-

ment.  The applicant shall file a completed application with the Planning and De-

velopment Department for administrative review, for any roofing material or color 

that is not included on the City’s approved list.  All new roofing materials shall 

meet the standards stated within this ordinance and shall only be installed by a li-

censed roofing contractor.  In addition, an application shall not be deemed com-

plete without the following: 

a. An approved evaluation report in conformance with the currently approved 

City Building Code. 

b. A Master Spec specification.  
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c. A sample of the roofing material in each requested color.  The size of the 

sample shall be a minimum of 2 square feet and have a minimum of two 

courses. 

d. Installation specifications provided by the manufacturer of the product. 

e. List of addresses where the product (and the color applied for) has been in-

stalled within the Kansas City Metropolitan Area for a minimum of 1 year. 

f. A list of the manufacturers of the requested product. 

g. The current administrative fee for roofing applications as stated in the City of 

Leawood Fee Schedule. 

4) Final Determination:  The Director of Community Development Planning or de-

signee shall determine whether a new roofing product meets both the City’s aes-

thetic, safety and performance standards set forth in this ordinance.   

5) Appeals:  A decision made by the Director of Planning Community Development 

may be appealed to the City of Leawood Board of Zoning Appeals. 

6) Aesthetic Standard:  The aesthetic standard required under this ordinance shall 

be that all roofing materials and colors be aesthetically compatible with existing 

roofs in the City and shall have the look of natural materials such as weathered 

cedar shakes, slate or tile. 

7) Roofing Safety and Performance Standards:  All roofing materials shall have ap-

proval from the City of Leawood and must meet the following standards for each 

type of material: 

a. Slate 

b. Clay Tile 

c. Concrete Tile 

d. Synthetic Slate: 

i. Must be within a similar color range of slate, clay tile or concrete tile; and 

ii. Must have a thickness of 3/16 inch measured at the exposed butt end of 

overlap creating the shadow line or individual thickness of the ply of roof 

material; and 

iii. Required to be installed with sheet metal valleys and flashings; and 

iv. Required to be placed on solid decking.  All existing roofing materials 

shall be removed down to the stringers and / or 1x4’s; and 

v. Must have a minimum U.L. Class B fire rating 

e. Synthetic Shingles: 

i. Must have the appearance and color range of natural weathered cedar 

shingles or weathered cedar shakes; and  
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ii. Must have an architectural shingle with shadow lines and or relief imitat-

ing a wood shingle or wood shake; and 

iii. Must have a thickness of 1/2 inch measured at the exposed butt end of 

overlap creating the shadow line or individual thickness of the ply of roof 

material; and 

iv. Must be installed with sheet metal valleys and flashings; and 

v. Must be placed on solid decking.  All existing roofing materials shall be 

removed down to the stringers and / or 1x4’s; and 

vi. Must have a minimum U.L. Class B fire rating.  

f. Stone Coated Steel Roofing: 

i. Must have the appearance and color range of natural weathered cedar 

shingles, weathered cedar shakes, clay tile or concrete tile; and 

ii. Must have a similar thickness to wood shingles, wood shakes or tile such 

that it produces a shadow line imitating these natural products; and 

iii. Must be installed with sheet metal valleys and flashings; and 

iv. Must be placed on solid decking.  All existing roofing materials shall be 

removed down to the stringers and/or 1X4’s; and 

v. Must have a minimum U.L. Class B fire rating.  

g. Metal Roofing: 

i. Must have the appearance and color range of natural weathered cedar 

shingles, weathered cedar shakes, clay tile or concrete tile; and 

ii. Must have a similar thickness to wood shingles, wood shakes or tile such 

that it produces a shadow line imitating these natural products; and 

iii. Be installed with sheet metal valleys and flashings; and 

iv. Be placed on solid decking.  All existing roofing materials shall be re-

moved down to the stringers and / or 1X4’s; and  

v. Must have a minimum U.L. Class B fire rating. 

h. Laminated Composition Shingles in a RP-4 (Planned Apartment Residential 

District) provided that they are (1) approved in a Development’s Final Plan on 

or before September 1, 2010 and (2) meet the following requirements: 

i. Architectural shingle with shadow lines and or relief imitating a wood 

shingle or wood shake; and 

ii. Must have a minimum thickness of 3/16 inch measured at the exposed 

butt end of overlap creating the shadow line or individual thickness of the 

ply of roof material; and 

iii. Required to be installed with sheet metal valleys and flashings; and 
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iv. Required to be installed with preformed ridge shingles; and 

v. Must have the appearance and color range of natural weathered cedar 

shingles or weathered cedar shakes; and 

vi. Must use a minimum of five (5) color blend granules; and 

vii. Must be a minimum of 300 lbs. per square; and 

viii. Is required to be placed on solid decking.  All existing roofing materials 

shall be removed down to the stringers and / or 1X4’s; and 

ix. Is required to be U.L. Class A fire rated material. 

8) Flat Roofs:  Flat roofs or roofs with a pitch of less than 3 inches per foot, in addi-

tion to the materials permitted herein, for other roofs, may also be covered with 

metal, built-up asphalt, or single ply elastomeric membrane. 

D) Roof Materials in Single-Family Residential:  

1) Intent:  The intent of the City of Leawood is to create and maintain the distinctive, 

traditional character that the single-family residences within Leawood are known 

for, while also ensuring that the roofing products used meet a high performance 

standard regarding safety and durability and to:  

a. Provide the citizens of Leawood with a choice of roofing materials while en-

suring that only quality products are used. 

b. Ensure that all roofing materials permitted within the City of Leawood meet 

minimum performance standards regarding fire, wind resistance and impact 

resistance to protect the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of Leawood. 

c. Ensure that roofing materials within the City of Leawood are aesthetically 

compatible with the existing roofs within the City and have the look of natural 

materials such as weathered cedar shakes, slate or tile, even if all other 

standards are met. 

2) Required Permits:  All roofing materials shall be permitted, installed, and inspect-

ed in accordance with the City of Leawood Development Ordinance and the cur-

rent adopted building code. 

3) Submission Requirements:  A list of approved roofing materials and associated 

permitted colors shall be available from the Planning and Development Depart-

ment.  The applicant shall file a completed application with the Planning and De-

velopment Department for administrative review, for any roofing material or color 

that is not included on the City’s approved list.  All new roofing materials shall 

meet the standards stated within this ordinance and shall only be installed by a li-

censed roofing contractor.  In addition, an application shall not be deemed com-

plete without the following: 

a. An approved evaluation report in conformance with the currently approved 

City Building Code. 
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b. A Master Spec specification.  

c. A sample of the roofing material in each requested color.  The size of the 

sample shall be a minimum of 2 sq ft and have a minimum of two courses. 

d. Installation specifications provided by the manufacturer of the product. 

e. List of addresses where the product (and the color applied for) has been in-

stalled within the Kansas City Metropolitan Area for a minimum of 1 year. 

f. A list of the manufacturers of the requested product. 

g. The current administrative fee for roofing applications as stated in the City of 

Leawood Fee Schedule. 

4) Final Determination:  The Director of Planning or designee Community Develop-

ment shall determine whether a new roofing product meets both the City’s aes-

thetic, safety and performance standards set forth in this ordinance.   

5) Appeals:  A decision made by the Director of Planning Community Development 

may be appealed to the City of Leawood Board of Zoning Appeals. 

6) Aesthetic Standard:  The aesthetic standard required under this ordinance shall 

be that all roofing materials and colors be aesthetically compatible with existing 

roofs in the City and shall have the look of natural materials such as weathered 

cedar shakes, slate or tile.  Each roof installed on a single-family residence shall 

be comprised of a single material selected from the City’s approved roofing mate-

rials and associated permitted colors list as referenced in Paragraph 3 of this 

Subsection.  The Director of Community Development shall have the ability to 

administratively grant an exception to allow for the use of more than one roofing 

material on a single-family residence when the request is made for a second roof-

ing material to be used with such architectural details, including but not limited to, 

bay windows, bow windows, dormers, shed dormers, shed roofs and flat roofs. 

7) Roofing Safety and Performance Standards:  All roofing materials shall have ap-

proval from the City of Leawood and must meet the following standards for each 

type of material: 

a. Wood Shingles: 

i. Number 1 or 2 grade 

b. Wood Shakes: 

i. Number 1 or 2 grade 

ii. Minimum ½ inch thickness measured at butt 

c. Slate 

d. Clay Tile 

e. Concrete Tile 
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f. Synthetic Slate: 

i. Must be within a similar color range of slate, clay tile or concrete tile; and 

ii. Must have a thickness of 3/16 inch measured at the exposed butt end of 

overlap creating the shadow line or individual thickness of the ply of roof 

material; and 

iii. Required to be installed with sheet metal valleys and flashings; and 

iv. Required to be placed on solid decking.  All existing roofing materials 

shall be removed down to the stringers and / or 1X4’s; and 

v. Must have a minimum U.L. Class B fire rating 

g. Synthetic Shingles: 

i. Must have the appearance and color range of natural weathered cedar 

shingles or weathered cedar shakes; and  

ii. Must have an architectural shingle with shadow lines and or relief imitat-

ing a wood shingle or wood shake; and 

iii. Must have a thickness of 1/2 inch measured at the exposed butt end of 

overlap creating the shadow line or individual thickness of the ply of roof 

material; and 

iv. Must be installed with sheet metal valleys and flashings; and 

v. Must be placed on solid decking.  All existing roofing materials shall be 

removed down to the stringers and / or 1X4’s; and 

vi. Must have a minimum U.L. Class B fire rating.  

h. Stone Coated Steel Roofing: 

i. Must have the appearance and color range of natural weathered cedar 

shingles, weathered cedar shakes, clay tile or concrete tile; and 

ii. Must have a similar thickness to wood shingles, wood shakes or tile such 

that it produces a shadow line imitating these natural products; and 

iii. Must be installed with sheet metal valleys and flashings; and 

iv. With the exception of stone coated steel being placed over an existing 

wood roof using an approved fire resistive non-asphaltic fiberglass based 

underlayment, stone coated steel roofs must be placed on solid decking 

and all existing roofing materials shall be removed down to the stringers 

and/or 1X4’s; and 

v. Must have a minimum U.L. Class B fire rating.  

i. Metal Roofing: 

i. Must have the appearance and color range of natural weathered cedar 

shingles, weathered cedar shakes, clay tile or concrete tile; and 
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ii. Must have a similar thickness to wood shingles, wood shakes or tile such 

that it produces a shadow line imitating these natural products; and 

iii. Be installed with sheet metal valleys and flashings; and 

iv. Be placed on solid decking.  All existing roofing materials shall be re-

moved down to the stringers and / or 1X4’s; and  

v. Must have a minimum U.L. Class B fire rating. 

j. Laminated Composition Shingles meeting the following standards: 

i. Architectural shingle with shadow lines and or relief imitating a wood 

shingle or wood shake; and 

ii. Must have a minimum thickness of 3/16 inch measured at the exposed 

butt end of overlap creating the shadow line or individual thickness of the 

ply of roof material; and 

iii. Required to be installed with sheet metal valleys and flashings; and 

iv. Required to be installed with preformed ridge shingles; and 

v. Must have the appearance and color range of natural weathered cedar 

shingles or weathered cedar shakes; and 

vi. Must use a minimum of five (5) color blend granules; and 

vii. Must be a minimum 300 lbs. per square; and 

viii. Is required to be placed on solid decking.  All existing roofing materials 

shall be removed down to the stringers and / or 1X4’s; and 

ix. Is required to be U.L. Class A fire rated material. 

k. Class 4 Impact Rated Laminated Composition Shingles: 

i. Architectural shingle with shadow lines and or relief imitating a wood 

shingle or wood shake; and 

ii. Must have a minimum thickness of 3/16 inch measured at the exposed 

butt end of the overlap creating the shadow line or individual thickness of 

the play or roof material; and 

iii. Required to be installed with sheet metal valleys and flashings; and 

iv. Required to be installed with preformed ridge shingles; and 

v. Must have the appearance and color range of natural weathered cedar 

shingles or weathered cedar shakes; and 

vi. Must use a minimum of five (5) color blend granules; and 

vii. Must be a minimum 27565 lbs. per square; and 

viii. Is required to be placed on solid decking.  All existing roofing materials 

shall be removed down to the stringers and / or 1X4’s; and 
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ix. Is required to be U.L. Class A fire rated material. 

8) Flat Roofs:  Flat roofs or roofs with a pitch of less than 3 inches per foot, in addi-

tion to the materials permitted herein, for other roofs, may also be covered with 

metal, built-up asphalt, or single ply elastomeric membrane. 

E) Colors 

1) Building colors shall be selected from an approved range of colors approved by 

the City.  Generally, façade colors shall be of low reflectance, subtle, neutral, or 

earth tone colors.  Color patterns shall have subtle color range. 

2) All buildings and structures that have had the paint colors approved by plan shall 

maintain the approved paint color.  Any owner seeking to modify paint colors from 

the original approved colors must obtain approval of a final development plan ap-

plication for color change prior to proceeding with the work. 

(Ord. 2031, 10-20-03) 

(Ord. 2035, 11-17-03) 

(Ord. 2085, 09-27-04) 

(Ord. 2430, 01-12-10) 

(Ord. 2454, 07-27-10) 

 



Memo 
To:    City of Leawood Planning Commission 

From:    Mark A. Klein, Planning Official 

CC:    Richard Coleman, Director of Community Development 

Date of Meeting: October 22, 2010 

Date of Memo:  October 16, 2019 

Re: Case 115-19, Leawood Development Ordinance Amendment to Section 16-4-4 
Temporary Uses Standards **PUBLIC HEARING** 

This proposed Leawood Development Ordinance amendment is regarding Temporary Use Permits issued for 
temporary events such as: promotional ventures (i.e. street fairs, concert series), seasonal sales, birthday parties 
with other activities such as music bands; seasonal stores, and filming of commercials.  The Leawood Development 
Ordinance currently limits applicants to a maximum of 6 events per year, with a maximum duration for each event 
being 10 days.  It is now common for developments such as Park Place and Town Center Plaza to have these 
types of events more than 6 times annually.  In addition, some temporary uses may need longer than 10 days for 
the temporary use, such as a seasonal store.  The attached amendment proposes the following changes to allow 
greater flexibility. 

 Removes the limitation to the number of Temporary Use Permits that can be applied for annually. 
 

 Changes the maximum number of consecutive days that a Temporary Use Permit is valid from 10 days 
to 30 days. 

 

 The ordinance currently allows a discounted fee if all permits for a given year are applied for at one time.  
The amendment proposes to charge a flat fee per permit.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

City of Leawood  

Planning Services 
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16-4-4  TEMPORARY USES STANDARDS 

16-4-4.1  Temporary Use Permit Required   

Uses authorized by herein as “Temporary Uses” may be approved only as provided for herein by issuance 
of a Temporary Use Permit by the Director of PlanningCommunity Development.  Temporary uses may 
include uses such as trade shows, street fairs, expositions, promotional ventures, entertainment, seasonal 
sales, balloons, search lights, and tents, or other uses of temporary duration satisfying the criteria herein. 

16-4-4.2  Procedure    

A temporary use permit application shall be submitted to the Director of PlanningCommunity 
Development, with a site plan indicating the proposed use, proposed length of use, off-street parking 
requirements and schedules, and traffic circulation, with the required filing fee.  A temporary use permit 
shall be approved, denied or conditionally approved by the Director based on the following criteria: 

A) The use is of a limited and temporary duration; 

B) The use will serve a public need or contribute to the public convenience and welfare; 

C) The use bears some functional or other beneficial relationship to a permitted use within the 
district;  

D) The use will not be likely to interfere with the appropriate use and enjoyment of nearby properties 
that may be affected by its operation; and 

E) The use does not conflict with the requirements or intent of an approved Development Plan or 
other provisions of this Ordinance. 

16-4-4.3  Performance Criteria 

A) Seasonal flower and plant sales  

1) Seasonal flower and plant sales events shall not exceed a total of ninety (90) days per 
year and shall remain subject to the following requirements: 

a. Merchandise shall be limited to bedding plants, flowers, pumpkins, straw bales (10 
bales maximum within 25 feet of any structures) and evergreen ornamentals. 

b. Merchandise shall be displayed at or near the store frontage without impeding ingress 
/ egress, or general convenience to pedestrian or vehicular traffic. 

c. Outdoor storage of the following material, equipment and accessories shall be 
prohibited:  mulch, manure, soil, rock, sand, lime, fertilizer, landscape construction 
materials, wood pallets, trailers, tents and greenhouses. 

2) Merchants shall make application to the City of Leawood and shall provide a scaled plot 
plan, which accurately depicts the proposed location of the sales event.  The applicant 
shall also provide verification of the following items: 
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a. Preservation of all existing parking spaces and emergency access corridors; 

b. Type and quantity of material to be sold; 

c. Proposed advertising / signage; 

d. Method of trash containment; 

e. Sales start and completion dates. 

Duly received applications shall be reviewed within five (5) business days from the date of submittal 
receipt.  Under no circumstance shall the sale event commence without the applicant first obtaining the 
required Administrative Special Temporary Use Permit. 

16-4-4.4  Criteria for Approval   

A Temporary Use pPermit may authorize the temporary use of a specified parcel of land in any district, 
provided the following conditions are met: 

A) The applicant shall submit in written form a complete description of the proposed use, including 
estimated accumulation of anticipated automobiles and persons, hours of operation, duration and 
other characteristics and effects on the neighborhood. 

B) The applicant shall submit a site plan showing the location of any proposed structures. 

C) The temporary use shall not be operated longer than 10 30 consecutive days. 

D) No more than 6 special event permits per calendar year shall be issued administratively at any 
location.  Any additional permits may be granted by the Governing Body. 

E) Fees for tTemporary uUse pPermits issued hereunder shall be as established by the fee schedule 
approved by the gGoverning bBody.  If an applicant applies for all six allowable administrative 
special use permits at one time, the applicant’s fee will be reduced to 2/3 of the total ordinary cost.  
(For example, if the ordinary fee is $50 per permit, an applicant applying for the six allowable 
permits at one time will pay only $200 instead of the $300 the applicant would pay is applying for 
the permits on separate occasions within any given year.) 

F)D) Upon the cessation of the temporary use, all materials and equipment shall be promptly removed 
and the property restored to its normal condition. 

G)E) Any structure used in conjunction with the special event temporary use shall be subject to 
inspection by the fire marshal.  

H)F) The special event temporary use shall not cause undue traffic congestion or accident potential 
given anticipated attendance and the design of adjacent streets, intersections, and traffic controls. 

I)G) The activity temporary use shall not cause the overcrowding of parking facilities given anticipated 
attendance and the possible reduction in the number of available spaces used by the event itself. 

J)H) The special event temporary use shall not impair the usefulness, enjoyment or value of adjacent 
property due to the generation of excessive noise, smoke, odor, glare, litter or visual pollution. 

If, after giving full consideration to the effect of the requested temporary use on the neighborhood and the 
community, the Director of Planning Community Development deems the temporary use reasonable, the 
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tTemporary uUse pPermit for the short-term use may be approved.  Conditions of operation, provision for 
surety bond, and other reasonable safeguards may be written into the special Temporary uUse pPermit.   

Any applicant denied a Temporary Use Permit shall be notified in writing of the reasons for the denial and 
of the opportunity to appeal the denial to the Governing Body. 
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